



# Journal of the Senate

State of Indiana

121st General Assembly

First Regular Session

**First Meeting Day**

**Tuesday Afternoon**

**November 20, 2018**

The members-elect of the Senate of the General Assembly of the State of Indiana assembled in the Senate Chambers in the State House in the City of Indianapolis on Tuesday, the twentieth day of November, 2018, A.D., at 1:31 p.m., being the day fixed by law for the convening of the First Regular Session of the General Assembly, viz:

"...the first regular session of each term of the General Assembly shall convene on the third Tuesday after the first Monday of November of each even-numbered year to organize itself and to elect its officers and receive the oath of office..."

The Senate was called to order by the Honorable Suzanne Crouch, Lieutenant Governor and President of the Senate.

Prayer was offered by Senator Dennis K. Kruse.

The Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag was led by Senator Kruse.

The Chair requested the Senators re-elected in 2018 to come forward to receive the oath of office. The following Senators came forward:

Alting, Ron J., District 22, Tippecanoe County

Bassler, Eric S., District 39, Clay, Daviess, Greene, Knox, Martin, Owen, and Sullivan Counties

Boots, Philip L., District 23, Boone, Fountain, Montgomery, Parke, Vermillion, and Warren Counties

Brown, Elizabeth M., District 15, Allen County

Buck, James R., District 21, Clinton, Grant, Hamilton, Howard, and Tipton Counties

Ford, Jonathan, District 38, Clay and Vigo Counties

Grooms, Ronald T., District 46, Clark and Floyd Counties

Holdman, Travis L., District 19, Adams, Blackford, Grant, Huntington, Jay, and Wells Counties

Houchin, Erin M., District 47, Crawford, Dubois, Harrison, Orange, Perry, and Washington Counties

Kruse, Dennis K., District 14, Allen and DeKalb Counties

Lanane, Timothy S., District 25, Delaware and Madison Counties

Merritt, James W., Jr., District 31, Hamilton and Marion Counties

Messmer, Mark B., District 48, Dubois, Gibson, Knox, Pike, Spencer, and Warrick Counties

Mrvan, Frank, Jr., District 1, Lake County

Niemeyer, Ricky N., District 6, Benton, Lake, and Newton Counties

Perfect, Clyde A. "Chip" Jr., District 43, Bartholomew, Dearborn, Decatur, Jackson, Jennings, Ohio, and Ripley Counties

Raatz, Jeffery S., District 27, Dearborn, Fayette, Franklin, Randolph, Union, and Wayne Counties

Tomes, James A., District 49, Gibson, Posey, and Vanderburgh Counties

Walker, Gregory F., District 41, Bartholomew and Johnson Counties

Zay, Andy, District 17, Grant, Huntington, Wabash, and Whitley Counties

Note: The oath of office was administered to Bray, Rodric D., District 37, Morgan, Johnson, Owen, and Putnam Counties. (See page 2 of the Journal).

The oath of office was administered by the Honorable Loretta H. Rush, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of the State of Indiana, which oath reads as follows:

"I do solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Indiana, and that I will faithfully and impartially discharge my duties as a member of the Senate of the General Assembly of the State of Indiana to the best of my skill and ability, so help me God."

The Chair requested the Senators newly elected in 2018 to come forward to receive the oath of office. The following Senators came forward:

Busch, Justin T., District 16, Allen and Whitley Counties

Garten, Christopher P., District 45, Clark, Jackson, Jefferson, Scott, and Switzerland Counties

Gaskill, Michael R., District 26, Delaware, Henry, and Madison Counties

Rogers, Linda L., District 11, Elkhart and St. Joseph Counties

Ford, James D., District 29, Boone, Hamilton, and Marion Counties

The oath of office was administered by the Honorable Loretta H. Rush, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of the State of Indiana, which oath reads as follows:

"I do solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Indiana, and that I will faithfully and impartially discharge my duties as a member of the Senate of the General Assembly of the State of Indiana to the best of my skill and ability, so help me God."

Roll Call 1: present 48; excused 2. The following incumbent senators were excused pursuant to Senate Rule 3: Senator Jean D. Breaux, District 34, Marion County and Senator Karen R. Tallian, District 4, LaPorte and Porter Counties.

The Chair declared a quorum present and the Senate ready to organize.

Nominations for President Pro Tempore of the Senate were declared in order. Senator Mark B. Messmer nominated Senator Rodric D. Bray and was seconded by Senator Blake Doriot. The Chair called for further nominations, and, there being none, declared the nominations closed. Senator Rodric D. Bray was elected by acclamation.

The oath of office was administered to Senator Bray by the Honorable Loretta H. Rush, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of the State of Indiana, which oath reads as follows:

"I, Rodric D. Bray, do solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of Indiana, and that I will faithfully and impartially discharge my duties as President Pro Tempore of the Senate of the State of Indiana to the best of my skill and ability, so help me God."

Nominations for Principal Secretary of the Senate were declared in order. Senator Eric S. Bassler nominated Jennifer L. Mertz and was seconded by Senator Philip L. Boots. The Chair called for further nominations and, there being none, declared the nominations closed. Jennifer L. Mertz was elected by acclamation.

The oath of office was administered to Mrs. Mertz by the Honorable Loretta H. Rush, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Indiana, which oath reads as follows:

"I, Jennifer L. Mertz, do solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of Indiana, and that I will faithfully and impartially discharge the duties as an Officer of the Senate of the State of Indiana to the best of my skill and ability, so help me God."

### **REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT PRO TEMPORE**

Madam President: I hereby report that in a letter dated September 18, 2018, Senator David Long resigned his seat at the Indiana State Senate effective at 11:59 pm on November 6, 2018.

Pursuant to the provisions of IC 3-13-5, the attached documents are submitted for inclusion in the Journal of the Senate:

1. The President Pro Tempore's Notification to the Indiana Republican Party State Chairman of Senator Long's resignation.
2. Indiana Republican Party State Chairman's Certification of Selection of Justin Busch to fill the vacancy in the office of the Indiana Senate, District 16.

3. The President Pro Tempore's Notice to the Indiana Secretary of State acknowledging receipt of the Indiana Republican Party State Chairman's Certification of Selection of Justin Busch.
4. Indiana Secretary of State's Certificate of Selection to State Legislative Office certifying the selection of Justin Busch to fill the vacancy in the office of the Indiana Senate, District 16.
5. The President Pro Tempore's acknowledgment of receipt of the Secretary of State's Certificate of Selection to State Legislative Office.
6. Report of the President Pro Tempore on administration of the oath of office by Chief Justice Loretta H. Rush on November 20, 2018.

BRAY

Report adopted.

September 18, 2018

Mr. Kyle Hupfer

Chair, Indiana Republican Party

c/o 101 West Ohio Street

Suite 2200

Indianapolis, IN 46204

Re: Intent to resign as State Senator

Dear Kyle:

As President of the Indiana State Senate, I hereby notify you, the Chairman of the Indiana Republican party, of my intent to resign my position of Indiana State Senator for District 16. My resignation will take effect at 11:59 pm on Tuesday, November 6, 2018. Proper notice of my intent to resign has been provided to the Indiana State Senate in accordance with Indiana Code Section 5-8-3.5-1.

Sincerely,

David C. Long

President Pro Tempore, Indiana State Senate

Senator, Indiana District 16

cc: Indiana Governor Eric Holcomb

Indiana Lt. Governor Suzanne Crouch

Indiana Secretary of State Connie Lawson

Indiana House Speaker Brian Bosma

Indiana Senate Minority Leader Tim Lanane

Indiana Senate Pro Tempore-elect Rod Bray

Allen County Indiana Republican party chair Steve Shine

### **CERTIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT TO A VACANT STATE LEGISLATIVE OFFICE**

TO THE HONORABLE DAVID LONG  
PRESIDENT PRO TEMPORE OF THE INDIANA SENATE

WHEREAS, a vacancy occurred in the office of Indiana State Senate District 16, on November 6, 2018, due to the resignation of the Senator David Long, who was elected to office as a candidate of the Indiana Republican Party;

WHEREAS, the duly elected and acting state chairman of the Indiana Republican Party set the place, date, and time of a caucus comprised of the eligible precinct committeemen from Indiana Senate District 16 and sent a notice by first class mail to all precinct committeemen in the caucus at least ten (10) days before the date of the meeting, setting forth the purpose, place, date and time of the meeting;

WHEREAS, the state chairman or his duly appointed designee presided over the aforesaid caucus, which was conducted on October 9, 2018;

WHEREAS, the caucus, voting by secret ballot, and a majority vote of those casting a vote for the candidate, selected an individual who resides within Indiana Senate District 16 to fill this vacancy;

WHEREAS, the individual selected to fill the aforesaid vacancy had filed a declaration of candidacy with the chairman of the caucus, and had previously filed a statement of economic interests under Indiana Code 2-2.1-3-2 with the Secretary of the Senate, at least seventy-two (72) hours before the time fixed for the caucus, all as required by Indiana Code 3-13-5-3;

WHEREAS, under Indiana Code 3-13-5-6, the state chairman is required to certify the name of the individual selected under Indiana Code 3-13-5-1 to fill this vacancy to the President Pro Tempore of the Indiana Senate; and

WHEREAS, under Indiana Code 3-13-5-6, the President Pro Tempore of the Senate is required to acknowledge receipt of this certification, submit a copy of the certificate to be included in the Journal of the Indiana Senate on the day when the individual is seated, (or if this certificate is received after the adjournment sine die of the General Assembly, on the first day that the Indiana Senate is in session following receipt of this certificate), and immediately forward the certificate to the Secretary of the State of Indiana;

NOW, THEREFORE, AS THE DULY ELECTED AND ACTING CHAIRMAN OF THE INDIANA REPUBLICAN STATE COMMITTEE,

- (1) I certify Justin Busch was selected by the aforesaid caucus to fill the vacancy existing in the Office of the Indiana Senate District 16.
- (2) I request that the President Pro Tempore of the Indiana Senate acknowledge receipt of the Certificate by his signature below as provided for by Indiana Code 3-13-5-6.
- (3) I request that the President Pro Tempore of the Indiana Senate include a copy of this Certificate in the Journal of the Indiana Senate as provided by Indiana Code 1-3-5-6.
- (4) I request that this Certificate be immediately forwarded to the Secretary of State, as provided by Indiana Code 3-13-5-6.

CERTIFIED, THIS THE 9th DAY OF October, 2018.

Kyle Hupfer  
Indiana Republican State Chairman

**ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT  
BY THE PRESIDENT PRO TEMPORE  
OF THE INDIANA SENATE**

I hereby acknowledge receipt of this Certificate by my signature below this 15th day of October, 2018.

David Long  
President Pro Tempore of the Indiana Senate

**CERTIFICATE OF SELECTION  
TO STATE LEGISLATIVE OFFICE**

TO THE HONORABLE DAVID LONG  
PRESIDENT PRO TEMPORE OF THE INDIANA SENATE

WHEREAS, A vacancy will occur in the office of Indiana State Senator, District 16, on November 6, 2018 due to the resignation of the Honorable David Long, who was elected to that office as a candidate of the Indiana Republican Party;

WHEREAS, On October 9, 2018, a caucus composed of Republican Party precinct committeemen from Indiana Senate District 16 selected Justin Busch to fill the vacancy in Indiana Senate District 16;

WHEREAS, The State Chairman of the Indiana Republican Party certified the selection of Justin Busch to fill the vacancy in the office of Indiana State Senator, District 16, to the President Pro Tempore of the Indiana Senate and the President Pro Tempore of the Indiana Senate acknowledged receipt of the certification;

WHEREAS, The President Pro Tempore of the Indiana Senate forwarded the aforesaid certification to the Secretary of State, in accordance with Indiana Code 3-13-5-6; and

WHEREAS, Pursuant to Indiana Code 3-13-5-7, the Secretary of State is required to certify the individual selected to fill a vacant legislative office;

NOW, THEREFORE, AS THE INDIANA SECRETARY OF STATE, I certify that the Honorable Justin Busch has been selected to fill the vacancy in the office of Indiana State Senate, District 16.

Given under my hand and the Seal of the State of Indiana, at the City of Indianapolis, this 18th day of October, 2018, being the 243rd year of the Independence of the United States, and the 202nd year of Statehood of Indiana:

Connie Lawson  
Indiana Secretary of State

October 18, 2018  
 The Honorable Connie Lawson  
 Indiana Secretary of State  
 200 West Washington Street, Room 201  
 Indianapolis, Indiana 46204

Dear Connie:

This is to acknowledge receipt of your Certificate of Selection to State Legislative office certifying the selection of Justin Busch to fill the vacancy created by the resignation of Senator David Long from the Indiana State Senate. Senator Busch was duly elected on October 9, 2018 in a caucus of precinct committee persons to represent State Senate District 16.

Sincerely,  
 Senator David Long  
 President Pro Tempore  
 DCL/klc

### **REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT PRO TEMPORE**

Madam President: I hereby report that on November 20, 2018 Senator Justin Busch was sworn-in to office to represent District 16. Chief Justice Loretta H. Rush administered the oath of office in the Senate Chamber.

BRAY

Report adopted.

### **SENATE MOTION**

Madam President: I move that Senators Doriot, Jon Ford, J.D. Ford and Stoops be appointed as a committee of four members of the Senate to notify the House of Representatives that the Senate has met, has formed a quorum, and has organized by the election of the following named officers:

President Pro Tempore: Rodric D. Bray

Principal Secretary: Jennifer L. Mertz

and is now prepared to proceed with legislative business and to receive any communications which the House of Representatives may transmit. Senator Doriot shall serve as Chair of the Committee.

BRAY

Motion prevailed.

### **REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES COMMITTEE REPORT**

Madam President: The committee appointed to notify the House of Representatives that the Senate has met, has formed a quorum and is organized and ready for the transaction of legislative business respectfully reports that it has so informed the House of Representatives.

DORIOT, Chair  
 JON FORD  
 J.D. FORD  
 STOOPS

Report adopted.

### **SENATE MOTION**

Madam President: I move that Senators Freeman, Crane, Niezgodski and G. Taylor be appointed as a committee of four members of the Senate to act with a like committee of the House of Representatives to wait upon the Governor and to notify him of the convening of both Houses of the General Assembly and to inform him that they are ready for the transaction of legislative business and to learn from him when it will suit his convenience to submit whatever communication he may have to offer to the General Assembly. Senator Freeman shall serve as Chair of the Committee.

BRAY

Motion prevailed.

### **REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES**

#### **COMMITTEE REPORT**

Madam President: The committee appointed to act with a like committee of the House of Representatives to wait upon the Governor to notify him of the convening of both Houses of the General Assembly, to inform him that they are ready to transact legislative business, and to learn from him when it will suit his convenience to submit whatever communication he may have to offer to the General Assembly has performed the duties assigned to it. The committee begs leave to report that it has learned that the Governor will communicate with the General Assembly on a date and at a time to be fixed at a later date.

FREEMAN, Chair  
 CRANE  
 NIEZGODSKI  
 G. TAYLOR

Report adopted.

### **SENATE MOTION**

Madam President: I move that a Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure be appointed to be composed of Senators Bray, Messmer, Holdman, Charbonneau, Crider, Head, Kruse, Merritt, Lanane, Breaux, Niezgodski and Tallian and whose duty it shall be to report back to the Senate any rules which in its discretion, it deems necessary or desirable, to constitute the Standing Rules and Orders governing the Senate during the 121st Indiana General Assembly, until otherwise ordered.

BRAY

Motion prevailed.

### **REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES**

#### **COMMITTEE REPORT**

Madam President: The Senate Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure has met to consider the Rules of the Senate for the 121st Indiana General Assembly and begs leave to report the same back to the Senate with the recommendation that said Rules be adopted as follows:

## STANDING RULES AND ORDERS OF THE SENATE

### I. GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. (a) The Senate shall be convened every legislative day at 1:30 P.M. unless the Senate by motion adopted by a majority vote shall have agreed to convene at some other hour. In the event of a discrepancy in the convening time posted, the time announced from the floor at the close of the preceding session day shall control.

(b) The announced convening time of the Senate may be changed after the Senate has adjourned with the agreement of the President Pro Tempore and the Minority Floor Leader.

2. (a) Except as specified in subsection (b), a quorum consisting of two-thirds of the Senators elected must be present to do business.

(b) Twenty-five Senators with the President, or Twenty-six Senators in the absence of the President with the President Pro Tempore presiding or having chosen a Senator to preside if the President Pro Tempore is absent shall be authorized to do the following:

Call a Senator.

Compel the attendance of absent Senators.

Make an order for censure.

Adjourn.

3. Every Senator shall be present at all meetings of the Senate unless excused by the President Pro Tempore.

4. (a) Every Senator shall vote on each question put except as provided by this Rule.

(b) A Senator may request to be excused from voting on a question because of a direct personal or pecuniary interest, pursuant to Senate Rules 94 and 95. Whether a Senator has a direct personal or pecuniary interest so as to be excused from voting on a question shall be decided without debate.

(c) When presiding over the Senate, the President Pro Tempore or other Senator designated to preside shall not be required to vote unless necessary to break a tie or to provide a constitutional majority.

(d) This Rule shall not be construed as denying or abridging the right of a Senator to vote on any question.

5. (a) The regular order of transacting business shall be as follows:

- (1) The President takes the chair.
- (2) Senate called to order.
- (3) Prayer.
- (4) Pledge of Allegiance.
- (5) Roll call.
- (6) Introduction of bills.
- (7) Reports of standing committees.
- (8) Introduction of petitions, memorials and remonstrances.
- (9) Reports of select committees.
- (10) Senate Resolutions.
- (11) Concurrent Resolutions.
- (12) Joint Resolutions.
- (13) Messages from the House.
- (14) Senate bills on second reading.
- (15) Senate bills on third reading.
- (16) House bills on first reading.

(17) House bills on second reading.

(18) House bills on third reading.

(19) Senate bills from conference committees.

(20) House bills from conference committees.

(b) The regular order of business may be suspended upon a majority vote of the Senators present and voting.

(c) If the regular order of business is suspended by reason of adjournment or otherwise, upon reassembling or upon completion of the business which caused the suspension, the business of the Senate shall be resumed at the place where the regular order of business was suspended.

(d) The Journal of the previous days shall not be read to the Senate except upon a motion signed by five (5) Senators, concurred in by a constitutional majority of the Senate.

6. Every bill, resolution or other matter before the Senate on the Calendar or otherwise capable of being acted upon by the Senate shall at the adjournment sine die of any session of the General Assembly be deemed to have failed. **However, this rule does not apply to the reconsideration of a bill vetoed by the Governor pursuant to Article 5, Section 14 of the Indiana constitution and returned to the Senate prior to adjournment sine die.**

7. The standing rules and orders of the Senate shall be an item of business in the first regular session of a term of the General Assembly. The ~~Committee on~~ Rules and Legislative Procedure **Committee** shall develop the standing rules and orders to be presented to the Senate for adoption. The standing rules and orders, upon adoption, shall govern the Senate for the term of the General Assembly, unless amended or suspended.

8. Mason's Manual and Jefferson's Manual shall apply to all points not covered by these Rules and, whenever there is a conflict between said Manuals, Mason's Manual shall govern. The Principal Secretary shall at all times maintain a copy of said Manuals in the ~~Office of the Principal Secretary~~ **Secretary's Office**, the Office of the Majority Attorney, and the Office of the Minority Attorney.

### II. DECORUM, DEBATE AND MOTIONS

#### A. Decorum and Debate

9. (a) The President Pro Tempore shall preside over the Senate when the President is absent or steps down from the Chair. Whenever presiding over the Senate, the President Pro Tempore shall at any time have the right to designate a member of the Senate to preside in place of the President Pro Tempore. In the absence of the President and the President Pro Tempore, the Majority Floor Leader shall preside over the Senate.

(b) In the case of death or resignation of the President Pro Tempore, the Majority Caucus Chair shall serve as Temporary President Pro Tempore until the election of a President Pro Tempore by the members of the Senate pursuant to subsection (d) of this rule. If the Majority Caucus Chair is unable to serve as Temporary President Pro Tempore, the individuals holding the following positions shall serve as Temporary President Pro Tempore in the order listed:

(1) Majority Floor Leader.

(2) Majority Whip.

(3) Assistant President Pro Tempore.

(4) Assistant Majority Floor Leader. If two (2) individuals hold the position of Assistant Majority Floor Leader, the individual having served in that position the longest shall serve as Temporary President Pro Tempore.

(5) Assistant Caucus Chair. If two (2) individuals hold the position of Assistant Caucus Chair, the individual having served in that position the longest shall serve as Temporary President Pro Tempore.

(6) Assistant Majority Whip.

(c) Whenever the Majority Caucus Chair, or any member listed in the order of succession, files with the Ranking Member of the ~~Committee on~~ Rules and Legislative Procedure **Committee** a written statement suggesting that the President Pro Tempore is unable to perform the duties of the office because of incapacity, the Ranking Member shall convene the Committee within twenty-four (24) hours to decide the question. The President Pro Tempore, who serves as Chair of the Committee, shall not preside over the meeting of the Committee under this rule. However, the President Pro Tempore shall be permitted to vote on the question as a member of the committee. If the Committee finds that the President Pro Tempore is unable to perform the duties of the office, the Majority Caucus Chair shall serve as Temporary President Pro Tempore until the election of an Acting President Pro Tempore by the caucus of the President Pro Tempore pursuant to subsection (e) of this rule. If the Majority Caucus Chair is unable to serve as Temporary President Pro Tempore, the individuals holding the following positions shall serve as Temporary President Pro Tempore, in the order listed:

- (1) Majority Floor Leader.
- (2) Majority Whip.
- (3) Assistant President Pro Tempore.
- (4) Assistant Majority Floor Leader.

If two (2) individuals hold the position of Assistant Majority Floor Leader, the individual having served in that position the longest shall serve as Temporary President Pro Tempore.

(5) Assistant Caucus Chair. If two (2) individuals hold the position of Assistant Caucus Chair, the individual having served in that position the longest shall serve as Temporary President Pro Tempore.

(6) Assistant Majority Whip.

(d) If the President Pro Tempore dies or resigns when the Senate is in session, the full Senate shall meet within forty-eight (48) hours to elect a new President Pro Tempore. If the President Pro Tempore dies or resigns when the Senate is not in session, the full Senate shall meet within five (5) calendar days to elect a new President Pro Tempore.

(e) If the President Pro Tempore is found unable to perform the duties of the office under subsection (c) when the Senate is in session, the caucus of the President Pro Tempore shall meet within forty-eight (48) hours to elect an Acting President Pro Tempore. If the President Pro Tempore is found unable to perform the duties of the office under subsection (c) when the Senate is not in session, the caucus of the President Pro Tempore shall meet within five (5) calendar days to elect an Acting President Pro Tempore. The full Senate is not required to meet to approve the election of an Acting President Pro Tempore by the caucus.

(f) The Temporary President Pro Tempore and the Acting President Pro Tempore shall exercise all of the duties and powers granted to the President Pro Tempore under the Standing Rules and Orders of the Senate.

(g) The Acting President Pro Tempore shall serve until the ~~Committee on~~ Rules and Legislative Procedure **Committee** determines that the President Pro Tempore is able to resume the duties of the office. The Committee shall meet within twenty-four (24) hours to determine the question upon receipt of a written statement from the President Pro Tempore that the President Pro Tempore is able to resume the duties of the office. The President Pro Tempore, who serves as Chair of the Committee, shall not preside over the meeting of the Committee under this Rule. However, the President Pro Tempore shall be permitted to vote on the question as a member of the committee.

10. The President or Chair shall preserve order and decorum; may speak to points of order in preference to Senators rising for that purpose; and shall decide questions of order.

11. (a) Decisions of the President or Chair are subject to an appeal to the Senate by any Senator.

(b) No Senator shall speak more than once on an appeal, unless the Senate grants a Senator leave to speak twice.

(c) The President or Chair who made the challenged ruling shall not preside over the Senate on the appeal, including putting the question and announcing the vote.

(d) The question on any appeal from a decision of the President or Chair shall be stated as follows:

"Shall the ruling of the Chair be sustained?"

(e) Upon any appeal from a decision of the President or Chair, a record vote shall be taken upon the question.

12. (a) When any Senator desires to speak or deliver any matter to the Senate, the Senator shall rise and respectfully address the President or Chair.

(b) When two or more Senators rise at once, the President or Chair shall name the Senator who is to speak first.

(c) Being recognized by the President or Chair, a Senator may address the Senate, but during debate shall confine comments to the question under debate, and shall not make any motion at the close of the Senator's own speech or prefacing remarks.

(d) No Senator shall speak more than once to the same question without leave of the Senate, unless the Senator moved, proposed, or introduced the matter pending and is speaking in reply to a question or after every Senator has had an opportunity to speak on the matter pending.

(e) Once recognized by the President or chair and before making any comments on the matter, a Senator may withdraw their request to speak by stating: "Permission to withdraw my request to speak." If permission is granted, the Senator may be recognized to speak again at a later time during debate.

(f) A Senator shall not occupy more than one-half hour to speak on any question in the Senate or in committee; provided, however, that the Senate at any time, by motion adopted by a majority of the Senators present and voting, may further limit the time for speaking.

(g) A Senator may have one minute to explain the Senator's vote on a bill or joint resolution if the Senator did not speak during debate on such bill or joint resolution.

(h) No Senator shall impugn the motives of any other Senator.

(i) A Senator may request the President or Chair to place the Senate in recess to allow a person who is not a member of the Senate to address the Senate only if the request has been approved in advance by the President Pro Tempore.

13. (a) Any Senator shall have the right to speak on a point of personal privilege, when recognized by the President or Chair.

(b) No Senator shall request a point of personal privilege during discussion of a bill.

(c) No Senator shall use the point of personal privilege to impugn the motives of any other Senator.

(d) No Senator shall have the right to propound any question to a Senator exercising a point of personal privilege.

14. (a) If any Senator in speaking, or otherwise, transgresses the rules of the Senate, the President or Chair shall, or any Senator may, call the Senator to order.

(b) The Senator called to order shall immediately be seated, unless another Senator moves that the Senator called to order be allowed to explain the challenged remarks and the motion is adopted by a majority of the Senators present and voting.

(c) The Senator called to order may appeal if seconded by another Senator.

(d) The Senate shall vote on the appeal of the call to order without debate.

(e) If the decision on the appeal is in favor of the Senator called to order, the Senator shall be at liberty to proceed, but not otherwise; and if the decision on the appeal is against the Senator called to order, the Senator shall be liable as to censure or such punishment as the Senate may deem proper.

(f) If a Senator is called to order for words spoken in debate, the Senator calling a Senator to order shall indicate the words to which there is an objection, but the Senator called to order shall not be censured for those words if further debate or other business has intervened.

(g) Any motion offered pursuant to this rule is not subject to Rule 17(a) and is not required to be in writing.

15. (a) Special Resolutions. All special resolutions must be scheduled with the **Principal** Secretary's Office before presentation on the Senate floor. Requests for presentation dates will be granted in the order received subject to the limitations in Senate Rule 45(b).

(b) General Resolutions. All general resolutions to be presented in person to the constituent at the State House must be scheduled with the **Principal** Secretary's Office before presentation.

16. (a) Special Resolutions.

(1) On the day the special resolution is scheduled for presentation, the author **or sponsor** must call the resolution down for action on the Senate floor.

(2) Presentation of the resolution will be limited to a maximum of five minutes.

(3) The resolution will be subject to a voice vote on the floor upon conclusion of the presentation unless a roll call vote is requested or a standing vote is taken for a memorial resolution.

(b) General Resolutions.

(1) Once approved by the President Pro Tempore, general resolutions will be read across the desk en masse by motion on the next session day. The motion will then be subject to a vote on the floor.

(2) Memorial resolutions will be read across the desk en masse by separate motion to allow for adoption by standing vote.

(c) Substantive Resolutions.

(1) Once assigned to committee by the President Pro Tempore, substantive resolutions will be released on a file list and read for the first time.

(2) If the substantive resolution is heard and adopted in committee, a committee report will be filed.

(3) Once the committee report is adopted, the substantive resolution will appear on the calendar and must be called down by the author **or sponsor** for final adoption.

(d) Once a simple or concurrent resolution is called for action on the Senate floor, no motion to amend will be in order; however, a technical correction pursuant to Rule 35(c) shall be in order at any time a resolution is in the possession of the Senate.

## B. Priority of Motions and Debate

17. (a) Each motion shall be in writing, signed by the maker, and, if demand is made, seconded, except the following motions:

Motion to adjourn.

Motion to fix the time which to adjourn.

Motion to lay on the table.

Motion for the previous question.

Motion to postpone indefinitely.

Motion to commit.

Motion to call the absentees.

Motion to excuse the absentees.

Motion to call a Senator to order.

If approved by the President Pro Tempore, an electronic signature PIN may be accepted on written motions.

(b) Each written motion shall be delivered to the Reading Clerk and read aloud before debate.

(c) After being read and stated by the President or Chair, a motion shall be in the possession of the Senate, but by consent of the Senate may be withdrawn at any time before being decided upon or amended.

(d) A motion to adjourn may be made only by the President Pro Tempore or Senator designated by the President Pro Tempore.

18. (a) When a question is under debate, no motion shall be in order except the following motions which take precedence in the order listed:

1st. To adjourn.

2nd. To lay on the table.

3rd. For the previous question.

4th. To postpone to a certain time or day.

5th. To commit.

6th. To amend.

7th. To postpone indefinitely.

(b) A motion to adjourn shall always be in order, except when the previous question or a motion to take up or receive the report of the Committee on Elections concerning right of membership is pending. The motion to adjourn shall be decided without debate.

(c) The question pending on adjournment shall be resumed on the reassembling of the Senate, unless otherwise ordered by the Senate.

19. (a) When moved, the previous question shall be put in this form: "Shall the question be now put?"

(b) Until it is decided, the previous question shall preclude all debate and the introduction of all further amendments.

(c) The previous question having been ordered, its effect shall be to put an end to all debate and bring the Senate to a direct vote on the question then pending.

(d) When operating under the previous question, there shall be no debate or explanation of votes; provided, however, that the author or sponsor of the question then pending will have two (2) minutes to speak prior to the vote.

20. All questions relating to the priority of business and motions to table or take from the table shall be decided without debate.

### III. OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES

#### A. Selection and Appointment

21. The first item of business at the first regular session of a term of the General Assembly shall be the election of the following:

The President Pro Tempore

The Principal Secretary

22. Each officer of the Senate shall take an oath for the true and faithful discharge of the duties of the office and shall be deemed to continue in office for the term of the General Assembly unless the officer resigns, is removed, suspended, or unable to serve, or until a successor is chosen.

23. (a) The President Pro Tempore shall appoint the following:

- (1) Majority Floor Leader.
- (2) Majority Whip.
- (3) Assistant President Pro Tempore.
- (4) Assistant Majority Floor Leader(s).
- (5) Assistant Majority Whip.
- (6) Assistant Majority Caucus Chair(s).
- (7) Assistant Majority Secretary of the Senate.
- (8) Postmaster of the Senate.
- (9) Principal Doorkeeper of the Senate.
- (10) Majority Attorney of the Senate.
- (11) Deputy Secretary of Operations.
- (12) Acting Principal Secretary of the Senate, if the Principal Secretary is removed, suspended, unable to serve, or resigns.

(13) Chief Legal Counsel.

(b) The Majority Caucus shall elect the Majority Caucus Chair.

(c) The Minority Caucus shall elect the following:

- (1) Minority Floor Leader.
- (2) Assistant Minority Floor Leader.
- (3) Minority Caucus Chair.

(d) The Minority Floor Leader shall appoint the following:

- (1) Minority Whip(s).
- (2) Assistant Minority Caucus Chair(s).
- (3) Deputy Minority Secretary of the Senate.
- (4) Minority Attorney of the Senate.

24. The officers and employees of the Senate shall be responsible to and under the direction of the President Pro Tempore or President Pro Tempore-elect.

#### B. Duties of Officers and Employees

25. (a) The Principal Secretary shall keep the Journal of the Senate in due form and by signature shall attest the same.

(b) The Principal Secretary shall each day the Senate convenes prepare a calendar, listing by number and author or sponsor, each bill and joint resolution eligible for call on second reading and each bill and joint resolution eligible for call on third reading on that day, together with any special order of business.

(c) At the end of the Principal Secretary's term of office, unless re-elected to that office, the Principal Secretary shall transmit to the Legislative Services Agency all official receipt books and official records from each session during the Principal Secretary's term of office.

26. The Legislative Services Agency shall preserve all official records and books received from the Principal Secretary for future use.

27. (a) The Doorkeeper shall attend the Senate at all times during a session unless directed otherwise by the President Pro Tempore and execute all commands duly given.

(b) When requested to call a Senator, the Doorkeeper shall do so by name.

(c) The Doorkeeper shall whenever the Senate is convened exclude from the Senate Chamber all persons except the President, Senators, officers and employees of the Senate, the Parliamentarian, members of the House, representatives of the press assigned to places on the floor of the Senate, employees of the Legislative Services Agency, persons authorized by the President Pro Tempore, former Senators, and former members of the House; provided, however, that any person, including former Senators and former members of the House, who is registered as a lobbyist shall not have access to the Senate Chamber.

#### C. Duties of Officers and Employees Pertaining to Bills

28. (a) The Principal Secretary, or designee, shall number consecutively the bills, the joint resolutions, and the concurrent resolutions received.

(b) Upon receiving a bill or joint resolution from a Senator, the Principal Secretary, or designee, shall prepare a receipt showing the number of the bill or joint resolution and the date when received.

(c) The Principal Secretary, or designee, shall prepare and distribute to each member of the Senate, lists of all bills and joint resolutions to be introduced.

(d) The Principal Secretary shall keep all bills and joint resolutions on file in regular order.

29. When a bill has passed, it shall be certified by the Principal Secretary, noting at the foot thereof the day of its passage.

30. When an enrolled act or bill is transferred from one party to another within or without the Senate Chambers, a receipt shall be generated to record that transaction.

### IV. STANDING COMMITTEES AND SUBCOMMITTEES

#### A. Committees of the Senate and Committee Appointments

31. (a) The following shall comprise the standing Senate committees and subcommittees thereto:

- (1) Agriculture.  
~~Ten (10)~~ **Nine (9)** Members.
- (2) Appropriations.  
Thirteen (13) Members.  
a. School Funding Subcommittee.
- ~~(3) Civil Law.~~  
~~Nine (9) Members.~~
- ~~(4) (3) Commerce and Technology.~~  
~~Eleven (11)~~ **Ten (10)** Members.
- ~~(5) (4) Corrections and Criminal Law.~~  
Nine (9) Members.
- ~~(6) (5) Education and Career Development.~~  
Eleven (11) Members.
- ~~(7) (6) Elections.~~  
Nine (9) Members.
- ~~(8) (7) Environmental Affairs.~~  
~~Eleven (11)~~ **Ten (10)** Members.
- ~~(9) (8) Ethics.~~  
Six (6) Members.
- ~~(10) (9) Family and Children Services.~~  
Nine (9) Members.
- ~~(11) (10) Health and Provider Services.~~  
~~Twelve (12)~~ **Eleven (11)** Members.
- ~~(12) (11) Homeland Security and Transportation.~~  
~~Ten (10)~~ **Nine (9)** Members.
- ~~(13) (12) Insurance and Financial Institutions.~~  
Nine (9) Members.
- ~~(14) (13) Judiciary.~~  
~~Ten (10)~~ **Eleven (11)** Members.
- ~~(15) (14) Local Government.~~  
~~Eleven (11)~~ **Nine (9)** Members.
- ~~(16) (15) Natural Resources.~~  
~~Ten (10)~~ **Nine (9)** Members.
- ~~(17) (16) Pensions and Labor.~~  
~~Twelve (12)~~ **Eleven (11)** Members.
- ~~(18) (17) Public Policy.~~  
Ten (10) Members.
- ~~(19) (18) Tax and Fiscal Policy.~~  
~~Thirteen (13)~~ **Fourteen (14)** Members.
- ~~(20) (19) Utilities.~~  
~~Eleven (11)~~ **Ten (10)** Members.
- ~~(21) (20) Veterans Affairs and the Military.~~  
~~Ten (10)~~ **Nine (9)** Members.
- ~~(22) (21) Joint Rules.~~  
Four (4) Members and President Pro Tempore as Ex Officio Member.
- ~~(23) (22) Rules and Legislative Procedure.~~  
Twelve (12) Members.

(b) Additional subcommittees may be created with the approval of the ~~Committee on~~ Rules and Legislative Procedure **Committee**.

32. (a) The President Pro Tempore or President Pro Tempore-elect shall appoint the chairperson and members of each of the standing committees and subcommittees thereto. The

appointments to standing committees and subcommittees shall be reported to the Senate by the President Pro Tempore and recorded in the Journal.

(b) The chairpersons and members of the standing committees and subcommittees thereof shall continue for the term of the General Assembly unless removed by the President Pro Tempore or unable to serve.

(c) All vacancies on any committee or subcommittee shall be filled by appointment by the President Pro Tempore or President Pro Tempore-elect of the Senate.

33. The standing committees and subcommittees thereof, **in addition to interim committees established by Indiana Code or the Legislative Council**, shall be the only committees or subcommittees authorized to represent the Senate during the interim periods of the General Assembly.

#### **B. Specific Committees: Rights, Duties and Procedures**

34. The Committee on Elections shall have leave to report at any time on the right of a Senator to a seat by presenting its report to the Senate or by filing its report with the Principal Secretary. A report concerning right of membership shall be a question of the highest privilege and may be called up at any time by the Chairperson of the Committee on Elections or by any member of the Senate.

35. (a) A report of the ~~Committee on~~ Rules and Legislative Procedure **Committee** shall be in order at any time when no question is before the Senate.

(b) All proposed amendments to or motions to suspend the Rules shall be referred to the ~~Committee on~~ Rules and Legislative Procedure **Committee** without debate. The Committee shall have the right to report at any time on any proposed change in the Rules or the order of business. A report on a proposed change in the Rules or order of business shall be immediately disposed of by a majority vote of the Senators present and voting.

(c) The Rules and Legislative Procedure Committee may correct spelling, grammatical, numbering, lettering, or technical errors in a bill or resolution when it is in the possession of the Senate. The Committee shall report to the Senate the number of each bill corrected and the correction which was made under its direction. The report of a correction shall be maintained under the supervision of the Principal Secretary and be available for inspection by a legislator upon request and entered in the Journal of the Senate.

#### **V. VOTING PROCEDURES**

36. (a) The President or Chair may state a question while sitting but shall rise to put the question as follows:

"As many as are in favor (as the question may be) vote yea"; (and, except in case of a record vote, after the affirmative vote is expressed) "As many as are opposed vote nay."

(b) In any case in which a voice vote is taken and there is a reasonable doubt as to the result thereof, a division on the question shall be granted upon demand of any Senator, if the demand is made prior to a ruling by the Chair upon the vote by voice.

(c) If there is a doubt as to the prevailing vote or a division is called for, the Senate shall divide and those Senators voting in the affirmative of the question shall first rise from their seats and

be counted, and afterward those Senators voting in the negative of the question shall rise from their seats and be counted.

(d) Upon a division and count of the Senate, on any question, a Senator who is not in the Chamber shall not be counted.

37. (a) A record vote is a vote taken and recorded through the use of electronic equipment.

(b) In all cases in which the vote of the members of the Senate is taken and recorded through the use of electronic equipment, a period of time immediately following the putting of the question shall be allowed for the casting of the vote. At the discretion of the President or Chair, the voting period shall be declared closed and the result of the vote shall be recorded and announced as recorded, and the official voting roll call sheet shall never in any way be altered or the vote recorded changed thereon.

(c) In the event of failure of the electronic equipment, a record vote shall consist of a calling of the roll and a recording of the yeas and nays.

(d) Notwithstanding subsection (b), if there is a discrepancy in taking or announcing a vote recorded through the use of electronic equipment and the vote is questioned prior to the call of the next bill for action, the President or Chair may make a ruling to treat the vote as irregular and void and the vote may be retaken or it may be corrected.

38. (a) If the Senate is equally divided and the President is presiding, then the President shall give the deciding vote.

(b) If the Senate is equally divided and the President is not presiding, then:

(1) for matters requiring a constitutional majority, Rule 81(c) shall apply; and

(2) for matters not requiring a constitutional majority, the matter shall fail to pass.

39. (a) No member shall vote for another member, nor shall any person not a member cast a vote for a member; provided, however, that

(1) the President Pro Tempore or other Senator may, when presiding, designate another Senator to cast a vote for the chair as directed; or

(2) in the event of a failure of the electronic equipment during a vote, the Chair shall ask the affected member(s) to stand and announce their vote. The Chair may then direct the reader to record the announced vote(s) from the reader's machine prior to closing the voting machine.

(b) In addition to such penalties as may be prescribed by law, any member who shall vote or attempt to vote for another member may be punished in such a manner as the Senate may determine.

(c) If a person not a member shall vote or attempt to vote for any member, the person shall be barred from the floor of the Senate for the remainder of the session and may be further punished in such manner as the Senate may deem proper, in addition to such punishment as may be prescribed by law.

## VI. LEGISLATIVE PROCEDURE

### A. Form of Bills

40. To be filed, a bill must have been reviewed by the Legislative Services Agency as to technical correctness, have attached a fiscal note prepared by the Legislative Services Agency, include a brief digest of the bill, and be accompanied by a card addressed to the President Pro Tempore of the Senate,

stating the subject matter of the bill and the committee assignment requested.

41. (a) Every bill and resolution filed shall be in a typewritten or printed form having no handwritten interlining or defacements of any kind, and drafted in a form prescribed by the Legislative Council.

(b) There shall be sufficient copies of the bill prepared for filing or pre-filing, one (1) of which shall be backed. The backed copy shall be the original bill.

(c) Every bill shall contain a title which shall express in concise terms the subject matter of the bill, but be in sufficient detail to acquaint the Senators with the general subject matter under consideration in the bill.

(d) Every amendatory bill shall cite the original act or code as last amended, and the sections of an act or code being amended shall be set forth and published in full length. The identification required by this Rule shall be made by citation reference.

(e) Every bill and resolution shall have one Senator designated as author or sponsor. In addition, every bill and resolution may have one Senator designated as second author or sponsor, one Senator designated as third author or sponsor, and any number of Senators designated as coauthors or cosponsors.

(f) Every bill and resolution shall be endorsed on the backing thereof with the name of the Senator offering the same.

(g) Prior to filing a Senate bill, the author of the bill shall obtain the verbal authorization of any Senator that is included on the bill as a second author, third author or coauthor when the bill is filed.

(h) Prior to announcing House sponsors, a Senator shall obtain the verbal authorization of any House member that is added as a sponsor or cosponsor of a Senate bill.

42. (a) Petitions, memorials and other papers, including congratulatory and other resolutions, addressed to the Senate may be presented by the President or any Senator.

(b) A petition, memorial, resolution or other paper shall be reported on by the committee to which it is assigned before it may be called for action, unless the President Pro Tempore designates it as eligible for immediate action.

43. Neither the printing contractor nor any subcontractor shall release information concerning bills or resolutions, their progress or work thereon, to any person not authorized by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate to receive such information.

### B. Pre-Filing, Filing, Introduction, First Reading and Committee Assignment

44. Any member or member-elect of the Senate may on or after thirty (30) days prior to the convening of any regular or special session pre-file a bill, joint resolution, concurrent resolution, or simple resolution with the Principal Secretary for introduction.

45. (a) When filed with the **Principal Secretary of the Senate**, simple and concurrent resolutions will be divided into one of the following three categories:

(1) Special Resolutions.

(2) General Resolutions.

(3) Substantive Resolutions.

(b) Special Resolutions. Special resolutions are designated by the author **or sponsor** for presentation on the Senate floor

subject to the following limitations:

- (1) A maximum of four special resolutions will be allowed to be presented during the first two weeks of session and during the first week after the midterm break each year.
  - (2) A maximum of two special resolutions will be allowed to be presented each day the Senate is convened at all other times during session.
  - (3) Each presentation shall be limited to a maximum of five minutes per resolution.
  - (4) No Senator will be permitted to present more than one resolution per session day.
  - (5) Additional limitations may apply during second and third reading deadlines and conference committees at the discretion of the President Pro Tempore.
  - (6) Exceptions to the limitations set out in Rule 45(b) are subject to approval by the President Pro Tempore.
- (c) General Resolutions. General resolutions may be designated by the author for presentation in one of the following ways:
- (1) Author to present the resolution in person to the constituent at the State House, but not on the Senate floor; or
  - (2) Author to deliver the resolution to the constituent in person at some location outside the State House; or
  - (3) Resolution to be mailed directly to the constituent on behalf of the author. There is no limitation on the number of general resolutions that a Senator may file each session.
- (d) Substantive Resolutions. Substantive resolutions are assigned to committee by the President Pro Tempore and are released on a file list. There is no limitation on the number of substantive resolutions that a Senator may file each session.
- (e) When a House Concurrent Resolution is received by the **Principal Secretary of the Senate**, it will be treated as a general resolution without presentation unless:

- (1) The Senate sponsor has notified the **Principal Secretary's Office** that the resolution is to be designated as a special resolution or a general resolution to be presented to the constituent in person at the State House and the Senate sponsor has scheduled the presentation; or
- (2) The President Pro Tempore designates the resolution to be substantive and assigns the resolution to committee.

46. A Senator must sign and deliver in person to the Principal Secretary's Office every bill or joint resolution to be filed or pre-filed by that Senator.

47. (a) Any bill or resolution may be withdrawn by the author as follows:

- (1) prior to the bill's release on a bill filing list, by written request to the Principal Secretary; or
- (2) after the bill's release on a bill filing list, by written request to the Majority Attorney's Office.

The records shall show such bill or resolution as having been withdrawn.

(b) In the event that the office of any member or member-elect who has pre-filed a bill or resolution shall become vacant for any reason prior to the first reading thereof, the bill or resolution shall be introduced in the names of the remaining second author and/or coauthors, if any. If a bill or resolution was pre-filed only by the member or member-elect whose office is vacant, the bill or resolution shall be withheld from introduction and the records

shall show the same as withdrawn prior to introduction.

48. (a) First regular session. During the first regular session, there shall be no limitation on the total number of bills or joint resolutions each Senator shall be permitted to file for introduction. Before January ~~10~~ **8**, each Senator may present an unlimited number of bills and joint resolutions to the Secretary's Office for filing; however, beginning January ~~10~~ **8** and continuing until the filing deadline at 4:00 p.m. January ~~12~~ **10**, no Senator shall file more than two (2) bills or joint resolutions per business day. During the two (2) per day limited filing period, each Senator shall be allowed to yield, in writing, the Senator's right of bill or joint resolution filing to another Senator.

(b) Second regular session. During the second regular session, each Senator shall be permitted to file for introduction no more than a total of ten (10) bills or joint resolutions, none of which may be vehicle bills. In addition, each Senator shall also be permitted to file two (2) bills recommended by interim study committees or statutory commissions and committees that shall not be counted toward the Senator's ten (10) bill filing limit. The President Pro Tempore shall be permitted to file twenty-five (25) vehicle bills and seven (7) vehicle joint resolutions. The Minority Leader shall be permitted to file fifteen (15) vehicle bills and three (3) vehicle joint resolutions. When reassigned, vehicle bills and vehicle joint resolutions shall not be counted toward a Senator's ten (10) bill filing limit. Beginning January ~~3~~ **7** and continuing until the filing deadline at 4:00 p.m. January ~~5~~ **9**, no Senator shall file more than two (2) bills or joint resolutions per business day. During the two (2) per day limited filing period, each Senator shall be allowed to yield, in writing, the Senator's right of bill or joint resolution filing to another Senator. However, yields may not be used to increase the maximum aggregate number of bills an individual Senator may file.

49. (a) Whenever the President Pro Tempore of the Senate shall assign a filed Senate bill or joint resolution to a standing committee, the assignment shall be made within seven (7) calendar days following the last day for filing Senate bills and joint resolutions and shall cause the bill or joint resolution with the committee assignment to be set forth on a bill filing list.

(b) All vehicle bills shall be referred to the ~~Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure~~ **Committee**.

50. (a) Bills and joint resolutions will be introduced after assignment to a committee.

(b) Bills and resolutions are introduced when read for the first time.

(c) The first reading of a bill shall be for information, including the assignment to a committee by the President Pro Tempore.

51. Bills and resolutions pre-filed prior to a session or during recess after organization day may be assigned and released by the President Pro Tempore or President Pro Tempore-elect of the Senate to a standing committee for consideration and will be introduced the first or a subsequent day on which the Senate is convened.

52. Upon the assignment of a bill or resolution for committee consideration or the day of first reading, whichever occurs first, ~~the~~ filed unbacked copies of a bill or resolution shall be distributed by the Principal Secretary as follows: ~~one to the printer for bill reading room copies; one to the Head Senate Proofreader; one to the author; and~~ one to the committee

chairperson of the committee to which the bill is assigned **and one to the Senate duplicating office. If approved by the President Pro Tempore, bills or resolutions may be distributed electronically.**

### C. Subject Matter

53. No motion to amend, committee action, concurrence or conference committee action which seeks under color of amendment to substitute or insert subject matter not germane to that of the bill or resolution under consideration shall be in order. However, this Rule does not apply to House bills raising revenue and relating to other taxation matters. Substitution of new subject matter in accordance with Rule 66(b) is not a violation of this rule.

54. Any conference committee report not in accordance with Article 4, Section 19 of the Constitution shall be not in order.

### D. Committee Meetings, Considerations and Reports

55. The committees of the Senate shall perform such services and take into consideration all subjects and matters required of them by the Senate.

56. (a) No standing committee or subcommittee, except the ~~Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure~~ **Committee** and the ~~Committee on Ethics~~ **Committee**, shall meet, hear evidence, or take a vote on a bill or resolution assigned to the committee or subcommittee without at least forty-eight (48) hours notice to the public. The notice shall include the following:

- (1) Committee or subcommittee name.
- (2) Chairperson.
- (3) Time, day, date and place of meeting.
- (4) Number and subject matter of all bills and resolutions to be considered.

(b) The Chairperson or Subcommittee Chairperson, with the approval of the Committee Chairperson, is responsible for informing the Principal Secretary, in writing, of the intent to hold a hearing including all information required in the notice by Rule 56(a). The notice of the intent to hold a hearing may be submitted to the Principal Secretary by facsimile ("fax") or other electronic means containing the handwritten signature of the Chairperson. If approved by the President Pro Tempore, an electronic signature PIN may be accepted.

(c) Senate committee and subcommittee schedules shall be posted prominently outside the Senate Chamber and may be posted publicly in electronic format for no less than forty-eight (48) hours before the meeting or hearing; provided, however, that the forty-eight (48) hour posting requirement shall not apply to the ~~Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure~~ **Committee** and the ~~Committee on Ethics~~ **Committee**. Senate committee or subcommittee meetings to be scheduled for a Monday or Tuesday shall be posted before noon or prior to adjournment, whichever is later, on the preceding Friday; provided, however, that this posting requirement shall not apply to the ~~Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure~~ **Committee** and the ~~Committee on Ethics~~ **Committee**.

57. (a) Except as provided in Rule 57(b), all standing committee and subcommittee meetings shall be open to the public. The Senate's intent with this Rule is to provide public access to the legislative process without hindering, intimidating, or disrupting that process.

(b) The ~~Committee on Ethics~~ **Committee** may meet in executive session:

- (1) as provided in IC 2-2.2-3-6; or
- (2) under Rule 96 or 97 to consider the request of a Senator made under Rule 94.

58. No action shall be taken without a quorum of the committee. A quorum shall consist of a majority of the appointed members. Provided, however, that the Chairperson of the ~~Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure~~ **Committee** may offer a committee report on behalf of said committee on only the Chairperson's signature.

59. When reporting on vehicle bills, the Rules and Legislative Procedure Committee shall not reassign a vehicle bill to another committee until the substance of the bill which is to be heard by a standing committee is amended into such vehicle bill.

60. When a bill or resolution is assigned to a standing committee the Senator introducing the same shall be a member of the standing committee during such committee's deliberations thereon, but shall have no power to act or vote on the bill or resolution unless the Senator is an appointed member of the standing committee.

61. Before being reported to the body of the Senate by the committee chairperson, all bills and resolutions must receive consideration by the standing committee, except bills and resolutions in possession of the ~~Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure~~ **Committee**. The chairperson of the committee shall preside if present at the committee meeting. During any absence of the chairperson, the ranking member shall preside. If neither the chairperson nor the ranking member are present during the meeting, the chairperson shall designate another committee member to preside during their absence. However, the chairperson, or ranking member when presiding in the absence of the chairperson, may appoint another committee member as temporary chair of the committee while presenting their own bill to the committee for consideration.

62. (a) When a final vote is taken on a:

- (1) bill or joint resolution under consideration by a standing committee or subcommittee, the vote of each member of said standing committee or subcommittee shall be recorded and retained as a part of the record of the meeting; or
- (2) simple or concurrent resolution under consideration by standing committee or subcommittee, it shall be a voice vote unless a roll call vote is requested. If a roll call vote is taken, the vote of each member of said standing committee or subcommittee shall be recorded and retained as a part of the record of the meeting.

Prior to announcement of the final vote, a member may change the member's vote subject to the discretion of the Committee Chair. However, no vote may be changed after the final vote is announced.

(b) Records of committee votes shall be made available for the purpose of examination by other legislators, the news media, and the public in general as prescribed by the Rules and Legislative Procedure Committee.

(c) Voting by secret ballot is prohibited.

(d) The vote record shall be signed by the committee chairperson, ranking member, or the designated committee member who presided during the vote. An electronic signature

PIN may be accepted.

63. (a) Except as provided in subsections (d) and (e), each member of the committee who is present, including the chairperson, shall cast a vote.

(b) No member of the committee shall cast a vote for another member; nor shall any person not a member of the committee cast a vote for a member.

(c) No proxy votes are ever in order.

(d) A member of the committee, by motion, may request to be excused from voting on an amendment, bill, or resolution because of a direct personal or pecuniary interest in the subject of the amendment, bill, or resolution that becomes evident during the committee hearing. Whether a Senator has a direct personal or pecuniary interest so as to be excused from voting on an amendment, bill, or resolution shall be decided by the committee chairperson, or in the chairperson's absence the ranking majority member.

(e) A member of the Senate Ethics Committee who has requested an advisory opinion from that committee is not required to vote on the matter which is the subject of the request.

64. (a) In the event of a tie vote on a vote for final committee recommendation, the chairperson may call for a vote at a later time. If the chairperson fails to call the bill or joint resolution down for a second vote by the committee report deadline, that exact language or substantially similar language shall be considered decisively defeated and shall not be considered again during the session.

(b) Whenever, on a vote for final committee recommendation, a particular bill or joint resolution receives a majority of votes against its passage, that exact language or substantially similar language shall be considered decisively defeated and shall not be considered again during the session.

(c) However, language in a bill or joint resolution that is defeated by a fiscal committee on recommit is not decisively defeated.

65. After a committee, other than the ~~Committee on~~ Rules and Legislative Procedure **Committee**, has had a bill under consideration for six (6) days (Sunday and the day of its introduction not included) the author of such bill or any member of the Senate shall have the right to call the attention of the Senate to such fact. A bill or resolution shall remain in the possession of the committee to which it was assigned unless two-thirds of the Senators elected shall vote to bring the bill or resolution to the floor. A bill or resolution brought to the floor by a vote under this Rule shall be considered by the Senate as if such bill or resolution had been reported without recommendation.

66. (a) The committee to which a bill shall have been assigned may report thereon with or without amendments, subject to the provisions of Rule 53.

(b) If the committee to which a bill is assigned reports thereon by substituting new subject matter, the bill must be accompanied by written consent, describing the change in subject matter, signed by the Senate first and second authors or Senate first and second sponsors of a House bill. If approved by the President Pro Tempore, an electronic signature PIN may be accepted. Upon adoption of the committee report, the bill shall be immediately referred to the ~~Committee on~~ Rules and Legislative Procedure **Committee**, and if approved, placed on a separate calendar

under the separate heading "Rule 66(b) Bills". The new subject matter must comply with Article 4, Section 19 of the Indiana Constitution, but is not required to be germane to the original bill; however, Rule 53 will apply to the bill as amended.

(c) The committee to which a simple or concurrent resolution shall have been assigned may report thereon at any time prior to adjournment sine die. Senate simple or concurrent resolutions may be reported with or without amendment. House concurrent resolutions may be reported only without amendment.

(d) The committee report shall be prepared by the Office of the Majority Attorney on prescribed forms and shall be signed by the committee chairperson, or in the chairperson's absence the ranking member, filed with the Principal Secretary not less than one (1) hour prior to the convening of the session day on which it is to be offered, and reproduced, with copies furnished to ~~the President Pro Tempore, the Minority Leader, and the Chairperson and Ranking Minority Member of the committee~~ which reported the bill; provided, however, that this subsection shall not apply to reports of the ~~Committee on~~ Rules and Legislative Procedure **Committee** or the ~~Committee on~~ Ethics **Committee**. If approved by the President Pro Tempore, an electronic signature PIN ~~and electronic filing and distribution of a committee report~~ may be accepted **and committee reports may be filed and distributed electronically**.

67. (a) A minority report may be filed on a bill or resolution if the committee to which the bill or resolution was assigned adopted a majority report on said bill or resolution.

(b) To be eligible for consideration, a minority report must be on prescribed forms and shall be signed by a member of the committee who voted against the majority report, filed with the **Principal** Secretary not less than one (1) hour prior to the convening of the session day on which it is to be offered, and reproduced with copies furnished to the President Pro Tempore, the Minority Leader, and the Chairperson and Ranking Minority Member of the committee which reported the bill. If approved by the President Pro Tempore, an electronic signature PIN **may be accepted and filing of a minority report may be filed and distributed electronically accepted**.

(c) A minority report may be made only if a majority report on the same bill or resolution is before the Senate.

(d) If a minority report be made, the question shall be upon concurring in the minority report, and if not concurred in, the question shall then recur upon the majority report.

68. (a) After the assignment of, but prior to the filing of a committee report on, a bill or resolution, a committee which has the bill or resolution under consideration may include in the report a recommendation for reassignment of the bill or resolution to another committee.

(b) A bill or resolution may be reassigned at any time by the President Pro Tempore.

69. The Chairperson of a committee reporting on a bill or resolution may open and close the general debate thereon, if any, except when operating under the previous question.

70. (a) Every bill or joint resolution which a committee shall report with a recommendation for passage or shall report without recommendation, shall be printed at once unless already printed. Every bill or joint resolution upon which a divided committee report is made and the report recommending passage is adopted, shall likewise be printed at once unless already printed.

(b) The bill or joint resolution shall be printed in accordance with the style specified in Rule 41 and shall implement the committee report. The committee report shall be appended, except for bills in which the committee report substitutes entirely new language as allowed by Rules 53, 54, or 82(e), in which case reference may be made to the printing.

(c) Whenever a bill or joint resolution shall be reported so as to require a printing of the bill or joint resolution, the number of copies to be printed will be determined by the President Pro Tempore and no more than have been so directed shall be printed at once. One (1) copy of each bill or joint resolution so printed shall be distributed or made available to each Senator electronically and sufficient copies shall be deposited with and made available electronically to the Legislative Services Agency for distribution to the public. Any remaining copies shall be deposited with the ~~Office of the Principal Secretary~~ **Secretary's Office** for the use of the Senate.

### E. Second and Third Reading of Bills

71. The calendar prepared by the ~~Office of the Principal Secretary~~ **Secretary's Office** in accordance with Rule 25(b) shall be laid upon the desk of each Senator or made available electronically to each Senator at the beginning of each day on which the Senate convenes and be made available to the public.

72. (a) Whenever a printed copy of a bill or joint resolution is released electronically on the website or laid on the desks of the Senators, whichever occurs first, said bill or joint resolution shall be deemed distributed. For electronic distribution to be completed effectively, an email must also be sent to all Senators, the **Principal Secretary of the Senate**, and the Senate Majority and Minority Attorney's Offices notifying of the release of the bill or joint resolution on the website. However, the date of distribution, for purposes of determining eligibility for second reading, shall be the date printed on the front of the bill or joint resolution, not the date of actual receipt of the electronic or printed copy.

(b) No bill shall be read a second time until one (1) calendar day after the distribution date printed on the bill.

(c) A motion to place a bill back on second reading for purposes of amendment may be offered only by Senators whose name appears first on the backed original bill. However, if the first author or sponsor of a bill or resolution is absent from the floor, the second author or second sponsor may make the motion if permission of the first author or sponsor has been granted, either in writing or by oral communication verified by the President Pro Tempore or a member designated by the President Pro Tempore.

(d) Following the adoption of a motion to place a bill back on second reading for purposes of amendment, the ~~Office of the Principal Secretary~~ **Secretary's Office** shall list the bill on the calendar as eligible for second reading the next day the Senate is convened. Amendments to be offered to the bill when placed back on second reading may be filed on any day the bill is listed on the calendar under this subsection.

73. (a) A motion to amend a bill or joint resolution on second reading is in order only if the motion is reduced to writing, contains the original signature of the author of the motion, is filed with the ~~office of the Principal Secretary~~ **Secretary's Office** not less than two and one-half (2 ½) hours before the

convening time of the session on the day on which the bill or joint resolution is called for second reading. If approved by the President Pro Tempore, an electronic signature PIN may be accepted.

(b) If a motion to amend has been timely filed for a bill or joint resolution eligible for call on a day the Senate is convened, but not distributed prior to convening that day, then the bill or joint resolution may not be called that day.

(c) This subsection applies to motions to amend that have been timely filed in correct form and distributed. When a duplicating error in a motion to amend is discovered after the bill is called, action on the bill may be suspended for not more than two (2) hours to allow for correction of the error and for distribution of corrected copies.

74. (a) If no amendments are made to a bill or joint resolution on second reading, the printed bill or joint resolution shall be used for the engrossed bill or joint resolution after each page thereof is duly authenticated by the engrossing clerk as to the correctness and genuineness of such page, and such printing so authenticated shall be the engrossed bill or joint resolution.

(b) If a bill or joint resolution is amended on second reading, the President Pro Tempore may order the entire bill or joint resolution to be reprinted as amended. If a bill or joint resolution is reprinted, such reprinted bill or joint resolution shall be used for the engrossed bill or joint resolution after each page thereof is duly authenticated by the engrossing clerk as to the correctness and genuineness of such page, and such reprinting so authenticated shall be the engrossed bill or joint resolution.

(c) If a bill or joint resolution is amended on second reading but is not ordered reprinted, the printed bill or joint resolution shall be used for the engrossed bill or joint resolution after each page thereof and each page of all amendments made thereto on second reading is duly authenticated by the engrossing clerk as to the correctness and genuineness of such page, and such printing and amendments thereto so authenticated shall be the engrossed bill or joint resolution.

75. (a) On the call of bills on second and third reading, no name of any Senator shall be called a second time until the entire roll has been called.

(b) A Senator may yield the right to call a bill on second or third reading when the Senator's name is called by stating the name of the Senator to whom the yield is given.

(c) No Senator shall call down more than one (1) bill on each roll call unless a yield has been first obtained for each additional bill called.

(d) Upon request of the President Pro Tempore and with the consent of the body, bills on second and third reading may be called by numerical order.

76. Bills and resolutions shall be called for action only by Senators whose names appear first and second respectively on the backed original bill or resolution. If the first author or sponsor of a bill or resolution is absent from the floor, the second author or sponsor may make the call if permission of the first author or sponsor has been granted, either in writing or by oral communication verified by the President Pro Tempore or a member designated by the President Pro Tempore.

77. When any bill has been ordered reprinted under Rule 74(b), such bill shall not be eligible for call on third reading until such reprinted copies shall have been distributed to the Senators.

78. Unless the constitutional rule be suspended, no bill shall be called for third reading on the same day it shall have passed to engrossment.

79. (a) No Senate bill or joint resolution amending the Constitution shall be called for third reading after February ~~28~~ **26** in the first session or February ~~6~~ **4** in the second session.

(b) No House bill or joint resolution amending the Constitution shall be called for third reading in the Senate after April ~~12~~ **16** in the first session or March ~~6~~ **3** in the second session.

(c) No House bill or joint resolution amending the Constitution shall be received by the Senate after noon on the next business day following the House's third reading deadline established by the Rules for the Government of the House.

(d) The limitations set forth in this Rule shall not apply to bills concerning reapportionment and redistricting only.

80. (a) No motion shall be received to amend a bill on its third reading, unless it is signed by two-thirds of the Senators elected. If approved by the President Pro Tempore, electronic signature PINs may be accepted.

(b) This Rule shall not apply to any motion to amend which corrects technical or printing errors. A motion to amend a bill or joint resolution on third reading shall be specifically designated "Technical Amendments". All technical amendments shall be referred to the ~~Committee on~~ Rules and Legislative Procedure **Committee** without debate and said Committee shall have the right to report thereon at any time, and any such report shall be immediately disposed of by a majority vote of the Senators present and voting.

(c) This Rule shall not apply to any motion to commit the bill to a committee of one, consisting of the first or second author or sponsor, with specific directions to amend. A motion to commit to a committee of one must be made at the time a bill or joint resolution is called on third reading but prior to being placed on its passage. A motion to commit to a committee of one shall be referred to the ~~Committee on~~ Rules and Legislative Procedure **Committee** without debate, which may report on the motion at any time, and any such report shall be immediately disposed of by a majority vote of the Senators present and voting. If the Rules and Legislative Procedure Committee Report is adopted, then the committee of one shall report that it has amended the bill as directed and such report shall be disposed of by a majority vote of the Senators present and voting. The bill or joint resolution shall then be open for debate and placed upon its passage.

81. (a) When a bill or joint resolution shall have failed for want of a constitutional majority, but shall have received the affirmative vote of a majority of the Senators present (more yeas than nays, but less than 26 yeas), such bill or joint resolution may be called down by the author or sponsor for a second and final vote, without debate, on a subsequent day but within three (3) days that the Senate is convened following the initial vote. The call down of such a bill or joint resolution shall not be counted as a third reading call of the author or sponsor. The daily calendar shall list such bill or joint resolution at the beginning of the calendar, ahead of all other business, under the separate heading "Rule 81(a) Bills and Joint Resolutions" and shall note the session days remaining for action.

(b) When a bill or joint resolution shall have failed for want

of a constitutional majority, but shall have received an equal number of affirmative votes and negative votes of the Senators present (the same number but less than 25 of each the yeas and nays), such bill or joint resolution may be called down by the author or sponsor for a second and final vote, without debate, on a subsequent day but within three (3) days that the Senate is convened following the initial vote. The call down of such a bill or joint resolution shall not be counted as a third reading call of the author or sponsor. The daily calendar shall list such bill or joint resolution at the beginning of the calendar, ahead of all other business, under the separate heading "Rule 81(b) Bills and Joint Resolutions" and shall note the days remaining for action.

(c) When a bill or joint resolution shall have failed for want of a constitutional majority, but has received 25 affirmative votes and 25 negative votes of the Senators present, and the President of the Senate is not present to give the deciding vote, such bill or joint resolution may be called down by the author or sponsor for a second and final vote, without debate, on a subsequent day that the Senate is convened when the President of the Senate is present. The call down of such a bill or joint resolution shall not be counted as a third reading call of the author or sponsor. The daily calendar shall list such bill or joint resolution at the beginning of the calendar, ahead of all other business, under the separate heading "Rule 81(c) Bills and Joint Resolutions". If the author **or sponsor** fails to call the bill or joint resolution down for a second and final vote by the deadline for third reading of bills under Rule 79, that exact language or substantially similar language shall be considered decisively defeated and shall not be considered again during the session.

(d) When a bill or joint resolution shall have failed for want of a constitutional majority (the initial vote), but shall have received the negative vote of a majority of the Senators present (more nays than yeas but less than 26 nays), such bill or joint resolution shall be in order for reconsideration on a subsequent day but within three (3) days that the Senate is convened following the initial vote. Once the bill is in order for reconsideration, any Senator of the prevailing (nays) side may, make a motion to reconsider the bill. The vote on such motion shall be without debate. If the motion to reconsider passes, the bill or joint resolution may be called down by the author or sponsor for a second and final at any time within the three (3) day period that the Senate is convened following the initial vote. This second and final vote on the bill shall be without debate. Only one motion to reconsider a bill or joint resolution shall be in order during the session. The call down of such a bill or joint resolution shall not be counted as a third reading call of the author or sponsor. The daily calendar shall list such bill or joint resolution at the beginning of the calendar, ahead of all other business, under the separate heading "Rule 81(d) Bills and Joint Resolutions" and shall note the days remaining for action.

(e) Notwithstanding subsection (d), whenever a particular bill or joint resolution receives a constitutional majority of votes against its passage (26 or more nays), that exact language or substantially similar language shall be considered decisively defeated and shall not be considered again during the session.

(f) If the author **or sponsor** fails to call the bill or joint resolution down for a second and final vote within the three (3) day period provided in subsections (a), (b) and (d) of this Rule, that exact language or substantially similar language shall be

considered decisively defeated and shall not be considered again during the session.

(g) Decisive defeat does not apply to the operating or construction budgets or to state revenue raising measures which may be brought before the Senate in the same or different bills until adopted.

(h) When a bill or joint resolution shall have failed for want of a constitutional majority, no motion to place the bill or joint resolution back on second reading for purposes of amendment shall be in order at any time unless:

(1) It is a House bill or House joint resolution that has not been amended in the Senate in committee or on the floor; and

(2) A motion requesting permission of the Senate to offer a motion to place the bill back on second reading for purposes of amendment is adopted by a majority of the Senators present and voting.

#### F. Concurrences, Dissents, and Conference Committees

82. (a) In every case in which a Senate bill or joint resolution is returned from the House with House amendments, a motion to concur or a motion to dissent and appoint conferees may be filed by the first author or by the second author with the first author's approval by written or oral communication and verified by the President Pro Tempore or member designated by the President Pro Tempore.

(b) A motion to concur or dissent shall be prepared by the Senate Attorneys' Offices, filed with the ~~Office of the~~ **Principal Secretary Secretary's Office**, reproduced and distributed to the Senators.

(c) A motion to concur shall not be acted upon until such motion has been filed with the **Principal Secretary of the Senate** and distributed to the Senators at least four (4) hours before action is taken thereon.

(d) A motion to dissent is eligible for action immediately after being filed. A motion to dissent may be filed by the second author with the first author's approval by written or oral communication and verified by the President Pro Tempore or member designated by the President Pro Tempore.

(e) No Senate bill or joint resolution returned from the House with an amendment substituting therein new subject matter shall be acted upon by the Senate unless a written consent, describing the change in the subject matter, is signed by the first and second authors and is attached to the bill or joint resolution upon its return. If approved by the President Pro Tempore, an electronic signature PIN may be accepted. A bill or joint resolution containing a new subject matter and accompanied by the written consent of the first and second authors shall be referred to the ~~Committee on~~ **Rules and Legislative Procedure Committee** and, if approved in the form it returned from the House, placed on a separate calendar subject to the procedures in Rule 82(c) or 86(a), unless the new subject matter is removed.

83. Motions to concur in House amendments shall be rejected unless approved by a majority of the members elected and such majority shall be established by a roll call vote.

84. (a) If the Senate dissents in House amendments, the President Pro Tempore may appoint a conference committee, and if the House dissents in Senate amendments, the Speaker may request by the appointment of House conferees, that the President

Pro Tempore appoint a conference committee.

(b) The Senate conference committee consists of two Senators, with the first listed Senator being the Senate Chairperson. Advisors may be appointed at any time by the President Pro Tempore.

(c) Senate conferees may be changed or removed at any time by the President Pro Tempore, who shall give written notice to the Office of the Minority Leader of the change. **If approved by the President Pro Tempore, notice may be transmitted electronically.**

(d) The appointment of a conference committee and any change of conferees shall be reported by the President Pro Tempore to the Senate and posted prominently outside the Senate Chamber and may be posted publicly in electronic format.

85. (a) The Senate conference committee shall meet with a like committee of the House of Representatives to adjust the differences. At least three (3) conferees, including the chair, are required to establish a quorum.

(b) Conference committee meetings shall be open to the public, shall be held in the State House, and shall convene only after one (1) hour public notice which shall include:

(1) Members of the conference committee

(2) Chairperson of the conference committee

(3) Time, day, date and place of meeting

(4) Number and subject matter of the bills or joint resolutions to be considered.

(c) It shall be the responsibility of the chairperson of the conference committee on a Senate bill or joint resolution to advise the Office of the Majority Caucus Chair of the intent to hold a conference committee meeting and to provide said office with the information set forth in Rule 85(b).

(d) Notice of a conference committee meeting including all the information set forth in Rule 85(b) shall be posted prominently outside the Senate Chamber and may be posted publicly in electronic format and House Chambers for no less than one (1) hour prior to said meeting.

86. (a) Each report of a conference committee for the adjustment of differences between the Senate and House, together with a digest of the bill and the changes made, shall be reduced to writing, signed by the appointed conferees, reviewed by the Majority Attorney and Minority Attorney, filed with the ~~Office of the~~ **Principal Secretary Secretary's Office** at least eight (8) hours before action is taken thereon, and distributed to the Senators at least four (4) hours before action is taken thereon. If approved by the President Pro Tempore, electronic signature PINs may be accepted.

(b) The four (4) appointed conferees must sign the conference committee report before said report will be accepted for filing. The conference committee report may only be carried for signature by members of the legislature or authorized staff of the Senate or House.

(c) All conference committee reports requiring title amendments shall be stamped "Title Amendment."

(d) No conference committee report shall be referred to the Senate until such time as it has been drawn or approved as to form by both the Majority Attorney and the Minority Attorney.

(e) Any conference committee report which contains subject matter not previously passed by at least one House shall be referred to the ~~Committee on~~ **Rules and Legislative Procedure**

**Committee**; provided, however, this Rule does not apply to conference committee reports on the appropriation bills. If a conference committee report containing a subject matter not previously passed by at least one House is approved by the ~~Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure~~ **Committee**, such report shall be placed on a separate calendar with the heading "Rule 86(e) Conference Committee Reports".

(f) No more than one (1) conference committee report on a bill or joint resolution shall be eligible for consideration at one time by the Senate.

(g) A conference committee report shall be called for action only by the first Senate conferee. If the first Senate conferee is absent from the floor, the second Senate conferee may make the call if permission of the first Senate conferee has been granted, either in writing or by oral communication verified by the President Pro Tempore or member designated by the President Pro Tempore.

(h) A conference committee report which is eligible for consideration may be withdrawn only with the approval of the Senate upon a written motion made by the first Senate conferee.

(i) In order to pass, a conference committee report must be approved by a majority of the members elected. Such majority shall be established by roll call vote. A conference committee report that has not received a constitutional majority of votes against its passage (26 or more nays) may be called down at any time by the first Senate conferee for a second and final vote.

(j) Adoption of a conference committee report by the Senate may only be withdrawn when all of the following are met:

(1) A joint agreement between the President Pro Tempore and the Minority Floor Leader that a clear error exists in the adopted conference committee report and withdrawal of the report is necessary to correct the error;

(2) A written motion is offered by the first Senate conferee and approved by a majority of the members present and voting; and

(3) The enrolled act has not yet been delivered to the Governor's Office.

(k) In the first regular session, no conference committee report is eligible for consideration after April 12 16, unless approved by the ~~Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure~~ **Committee**.

(l) In the second regular session, no conference committee report is eligible for consideration after March 6 3, unless approved by the ~~Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure~~ **Committee**.

(m) Upon recommendation of the ~~Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure~~ **Committee** subsections (k) and (l) of this rule may be suspended as to a specific bill by the approval of a constitutional majority.

### G. Enrollments

87. (a) All bills passed by both Houses shall be printed in enrolled form and shall be certified as accurate by the first author of the bill, the President of the Senate, the President Pro Tempore, and the Principal Secretary. One copy of each enrollment shall be furnished to the author at the time of that certification.

(b) In the case of death or incapacity of the first author, the second author of the bill shall certify the bill as accurate, and sign on behalf of the first author.

### H. Veto Overrides

88. (a) This rule applies whenever a bill vetoed by the Governor is returned to the House in which the bill originated under Article 5, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of Indiana.

(b) When a bill is returned under subsection (a) for reconsideration by the General Assembly as required by Article 5, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of Indiana, the bill shall be placed on a separate calendar with the heading "Rule 88(b) Governor's Veto" and called for action in the Senate by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate.

(c) During reconsideration of the bill, debate shall be allowed to the same extent as permitted for bills on second or third reading.

### I.A. Construction of Rules: Definitions, Deadlines, Filing with Principal Secretary

89. (a) In computing any period of time under these Rules, the day of the act or event from which the designated period of time begins to run shall not be included. The last day of the period so computed shall be included.

(b) Whenever a deadline date is specified in these rules, and that date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday, that deadline is extended to the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday.

(c) "Business day" means Monday through Friday except for legal holidays. Whenever a deadline is specified in these rules to require filing by a certain business day, the deadline shall be 5:00 P.M. on the business day unless otherwise specified by these rules.

(d) Whenever a deadline date is specified in these rules requiring action by the Senate on or before a certain date or prohibiting action after a certain date, the action shall be completed before midnight on the date specified.

(e) Whenever a document is required by these rules to be filed with the Principal Secretary, the document, to be timely filed, must be presented to and scanned or file stamped by the Principal Secretary before the deadline established by these rules. Filing of documents with the Principal Secretary by electronic means is not allowed unless expressly permitted by a Senate rule.

(f) Whenever a signature is required by these rules, if an electronic signature PIN is not expressly authorized by the rule, then acceptance of an electronic signature PIN is subject to the approval of the President Pro Tempore.

(g) Whenever the term "electronic signature PIN" is used in these rules, it is defined as a specialized four digit PIN code which represents a member's authorized signature.

(h) The Senate does not use the committee of the whole process on the Senate floor.

(i) For purposes of the Senate Rules, a document is considered filed electronically when the document meets all applicable requirements for filing established by these rules and it is submitted to the ~~Principal Secretary of the Senate's Secretary's~~ **Secretary's** Office through the secure LSA INscribe system.

### VII. ETHICS

90. It is declared that high moral and ethical standards among State Senators are essential to the conduct of free government; that the Senate believes that a code of ethics for the guidance of

State Senators will help them avoid conflicts of interest in public office, will improve standards of public service, and will promote and strengthen the faith and confidence of the people of Indiana. The code is intended to protect the individual Senators while providing guidelines for all members of the Senate.

Recognizing that service in the Indiana General Assembly is a part-time endeavor and that members of the General Assembly are individuals who are active in the affairs of their localities and elsewhere and that it is necessary that they maintain a livelihood and source of income apart from their legislative compensation, the following guidelines are adopted to assist the members in the conduct of their legislative duties.

91. A Senator who is offered:

(1) an economic or investment opportunity; or  
 (2) a loan, gratuity, discount, favor, hospitality, or other goods or services; by a person, shall consider, in determining whether or not to accept the offer, whether the Senator's acceptance of the offer may affect the Senator's independent legislative judgement. In so considering, the Senator shall take into account the following:

(A) whether the opportunity is being offered with the intent to influence the Senator's conduct in the performance of legislative duties; or

(B) whether acceptance of the offer would have a unique, direct, and material effect on the nonlegislative income of the Senator, a member of the Senator's immediate family or those of a partnership, corporation or business in which the Senator holds a legal or equitable interest.

Should the Senator determine that, by acceptance of the offer, the Senator's independent legislative judgement may be affected, the Senator shall refuse the offer.

92. A Senator who has a direct personal or pecuniary interest in a piece of legislation which is so substantial as to affect the Senator's independent legislative judgement is not precluded from participating in committee and floor debate on the legislation, if the Senator publicly proclaims that interest.

93. During the course of a legislative session, a Senator may be placed in a position where the Senator has the obligation to vote on legislation in which the Senator has a direct personal or pecuniary interest. In making this decision the Senator shall consider the following:

(1) Whether the Senator's interest in the legislation is so substantial as to affect the Senator's independence of judgement with respect to the legislation.

(2) To what extent the Senator's interest in the legislation mirrors the interest of the citizenry to which the Senator is directly responsible.

(3) The effect of the Senator's participation in the voting on the legislation on public confidence in the integrity of the legislature.

(4) The need of the Senator's particular contribution, such as special knowledge of the subject matter, to the effective functioning of the legislature.

(5) Whether the legislation would have a unique, direct, and material effect on the nonlegislative income of the Senator, a member of the Senator's immediate family or those of a partnership, corporation, or business in which the Senator holds a legal or equitable interest.

94. A Senator may request the assistance of the Senate

Legislative Ethics Committee (established pursuant to IC 2-2.2-3-1) in determining the propriety of the Senator's:

- (1) proposed acceptance of an offer;
- (2) participation in upcoming debate; or
- (3) participation in an upcoming vote.

95. Under Rule 94, the Senator shall:

(1) Prepare a written statement describing the matter requiring action or decision by the Senator and the nature of the Senator's potential conflict of interest; and

(2) Deliver a copy of the statement to the Chairman of the Senate Legislative Ethics Committee. If the Chairman is unavailable, a copy of the statement may be delivered to the President Pro Tempore.

96. If a Senator requests the assistance of the Senate Legislative Ethics Committee under Rule 94, and there is insufficient time to comply with Rule 95, the Senator shall orally inform the Chairman of the Senate Legislative Ethics Committee of the potential conflict. The matter shall then be immediately referred to the Legislative Ethics Committee for its recommendation. The Committee shall issue an oral recommendation to the Senator making the request as soon as possible after considering the request. The Committee shall follow the oral recommendation with a written report as required by Senate Rule 98.

97. The Legislative Ethics Committee shall meet as soon as possible and render an advisory opinion on the question raised. Should the committee vote result in a tie, the effect will be to make no recommendation.

98. The written report of the Legislative Ethics Committee shall be forwarded to the President Pro Tempore of the Senate and the Senate Minority Leader. Copies of the report and the written statement of the Senator making the request shall be maintained in the offices of the Secretary of the Senate and the Minority Attorney. The committee's written report and the written statement of the Senator making the request under Rule 95 shall remain confidential unless the Senator making the request consents to their disclosure.

99. In addition to any meetings held under Rule 97, the Senate Legislative Ethics Committee may: (1) meet and recommend amendments to the code of ethics for the Senate pursuant to IC 2-2.2-3-4 and (2) receive complaints pursuant to IC 2-2.2-3-5.

BRAY, Chair  
 MESSMER  
 HOLDMAN  
 CHARBONNEAU  
 CRIDER  
 HEAD  
 KRUSE  
 MERRITT

LANANE  
 BREAUX  
 NIEZGODSKI  
 TALLIAN

Report adopted.

#### SENATE MOTION

Madam President: I move that Senators Messmer, Merritt, Breaux and Lanane be appointed as a Committee of the Senate who, together with the President Pro Tempore as ex officio member, shall constitute a Committee on Joint Rules, and who shall confer with a like Committee of the House of

Representatives to formulate any additions to or changes in the Joint Rules of the two Houses which, in their discretion, may be necessary or desirable. The Secretary of the Senate is hereby instructed to inform the House of Representatives of this action.

BRAY

Motion prevailed.

## REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES

### COMMITTEE REPORT

Madam President: The Senate Committee on Joint Rules has met to consider the Joint Rules of both Houses for the 121st Indiana General Assembly and begs leave to report the same back to the Senate with recommendation that the Joint Rules of both Houses for the 121st Indiana General Assembly, be adopted as the Joint Rules of both Houses for the 121st Indiana General Assembly as follows:

### JOINT RULES

#### FOR CONDUCTING BUSINESS IN THE TWO HOUSES OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF INDIANA

1. After a bill or resolution has passed one house and before it shall be transmitted to the other house for further action, it shall be the duty of the author to furnish to the clerk of the house of origin a card bearing the name of the party selected as sponsor in the other house, which card shall be attached to the bill and transmitted therewith.

2. (a) After a bill or joint resolution shall have passed both houses it shall be duly enrolled on paper, and the clerk of the house where it originated shall certify over his or her signature upon the back thereof the house in which it originated, the dates upon which it passed the House and Senate, respectively, and the number of votes cast for and against it in each house.

(b) Every enrolled bill or joint resolution shall be printed in enrolled act form. The session of the General Assembly shall be indicated on the face of such printed enrollment. In the case of enrolled bills proposing to amend any then existing Indiana statute, the text shall reflect any change from the text of the then existing statute. This shall be accomplished by the use of bold face type to indicate the addition of new material to the text of the then existing statute, and canceled type to indicate the deletion of existing material.

3. Every bill or joint resolution, after having been enrolled, shall be examined by the Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedures of the house in which it originated, which shall compare the enrolled copy with the engrossed copy, or cause the author thereof to do so, taking special care that the engrossed amendments adopted by either house, if any there be, shall have been properly incorporated in said enrolled copy and shall report in writing to said house any errors therein.

4. (a) Every bill or joint resolution reported to have been duly enrolled shall be signed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives and the President and President Pro Tempore of the Senate. After which, every bill shall be presented by the Secretary of the Senate or the Clerk of the House of Representatives to the Governor for his signature.

(b) Except as provided in this rule, all bills and joint resolutions shall be signed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives and the President of the Senate, in their houses respectively, when in session.

(c) During a recess period, the Speaker and the President of the Senate may sign bills and resolutions in their respective offices.

5. A record of all bills and resolutions signed, whether in session or during a recess, shall be kept in the Journals of each house.

6. When any paper or papers, proper to be acted upon by both houses, shall come before either, the house before which such paper or papers are laid shall, after acting thereupon, lay it or them before the other house.

7. (a) In every case of an amendment of a bill agreed to in one house, and dissented to in the other, either house may request a conference and appoint a committee for that purpose; the other house may also appoint a committee. A conference committee shall consist of two members from each house; one member from the house in which the bill or resolution originated shall be named as chairman by the appointing authority of the house of origination.

(b) Conferees shall state to each other verbally or in writing, as either shall choose, the reason of their respective houses for and against the amendment, and confer freely thereon and report to each house their proceedings thereon. Meetings of conference committees shall be held at a convenient hour agreed upon by the conferees and shall be open to the public, whenever feasible, in which event, notice shall be posted before such meeting in accordance with the rules of the house in which the bill originated. It is the intent of this joint rule to provide public access to the legislative process without hindering, intimidating or disrupting that process.

8. In all cases where the Doorkeeper of one house shall, by reason of official engagement, or other causes, be unable to execute the commands or process of the house of which he is an officer, it shall be the duty of the Doorkeeper of the other house to execute such commands, together with such process as may be directed to him by the presiding officer thereof.

9. A joint standing committee to be called the Committee on Joint Rules shall be appointed, to consist of four Senators, not more than two of whom shall be from the same political party, four Representatives, not more than two of whom shall be from the same political party, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives and the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, which last two officers shall be ex officio members of the Committee.

10. All joint conventions shall be held in the hall of the House of Representatives unless a different place shall be designated in the resolution by which such joint convention is convened. All such joint conventions shall be presided over by the President of the Senate, or if for any reason the President of the Senate be absent or decline to preside, then the President Pro Tempore of the Senate shall preside.

11. In all joint conventions and joint meetings of the two houses no business shall be transacted other than that for which they were assembled.

12. When a message is sent to the Senate or to the House of Representatives, it shall be delivered in written or electronic form

to the Secretary of the Senate or the Clerk of the House, who shall deliver such message to the Chair.

13. Messages shall be sent by such persons as the President Pro Tempore of the Senate or Speaker of the House may designate for that purpose.

14. When bills which have passed one house are ordered to be printed in the other, a greater number of copies shall not be printed than may be necessary for the use of the house making the order.

15. *This rule was deemed obsolete and removed in 2017.*

16. Any proposed amendments to these rules shall be referred to the Committee on Joint Rules.

17. The Secretary of the Senate and the Clerk of the House of Representatives shall at the time of delivery of the enrolled acts and resolutions for the signature of the presiding officer leave with the minute clerk a copy of a written message setting out the numbers of the enrolled acts or resolutions so submitted.

18. A motion to recess for more than three days shall be deemed to have failed unless approved by a majority of the members elected in each house. Such majority shall be established by roll call vote.

19. The joint rules, upon adoption, shall govern the General Assembly for the term of that General Assembly unless suspended or amended.

20. If:

(1) two bills amending the same section of the Indiana Code are approved in the same session of the General Assembly, and neither bill recognizes the existence of the other;

(2) one bill amends a section of the Indiana Code and another bill repeals that section with an effective date preceding the effective date of the amendment; or

(3) two bills each add a new provision to the Indiana Code at the same code citation without either bill recognizing the addition made by the other and both bills are approved in the same session of the General Assembly; one of the two bills may be corrected at enrollment to recognize the existence of the other by the Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedures of the House of Representatives and the Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure of the Senate. However, a correction under this rule is limited to the extent necessary to resolve the technical conflict and may not be made unless the report of each of the two committees includes the written consent of the respective committee's ranking minority member. In addition, the committee report in each house must include the written consent of the corrected bill's author or sponsor, as the case may be, in that house. A technical conflict is one that does not change the substance of either bill. It is at the discretion of both the Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedures of the House of Representatives and the Committee on Rules and Legislative Procedure of the Senate as to whether a conflict is technical.

21. If a bill is passed which clearly expresses the intent that a SECTION thereof becomes effective on a date other than the standard statutory effective date set forth in the Indiana Code, but does not use the technical emergency provision for such effective date, then the Rules and Legislative Procedures Committee of the House of Representatives and the Rules and Legislative

Procedure Committee of the Senate may correct the bill at enrollment to include the technical emergency provision for the expressed effective date. For the correction to be made, each House must adopt a committee report setting forth the correction and containing the written consent of the Chairperson and ranking minority member of the Rules Committee of that House and the author or sponsor of the bill in that House.

MESSMER, Chair  
MERRITT  
BREAUX  
LANANE

Report adopted.

#### **REPORT OF LEADERSHIP AND OTHER APPOINTMENTS**

Pursuant to Senate Rule 24 of the Standing Rules and Orders of the Senate of the 121st General Assembly, First Regular Session, President Pro Tempore Rodric Bray hereby announces the following:

#### **ELECTIONS TO LEADERSHIP BY THE SENATE**

President Pro Tempore  
SENATOR RODRIC BRAY  
Principal Secretary of the Senate  
JENNIFER MERTZ

#### **ELECTIONS TO LEADERSHIP BY THE SENATE MAJORITY AND MINORITY CAUCUSES**

Majority Caucus Chair  
SENATOR JAMES MERRITT, JR.  
Minority Floor Leader  
SENATOR TIM LANANE  
Assistant Minority Floor Leader  
SENATOR JEAN BREAUX  
Minority Caucus Chair  
SENATOR KAREN TALLIAN

#### **APPOINTMENTS TO LEADERSHIP BY PRESIDENT PRO TEMPORE**

Majority Floor Leader  
SENATOR MARK MESSMER  
Majority Whip  
SENATOR MICHAEL CRIDER  
Assistant President Pro Tempore  
SENATOR SUE GLICK  
Assistant Majority Whip  
SENATOR BLAKE DORIOT  
Majority Floor Leader Emeritus  
SENATOR RON ALTING  
Assistant Majority Floor Leaders  
SENATOR RANDY HEAD - Communications  
SENATOR AARON FREEMAN - Parliamentary Affairs

Assistant Majority Caucus Chairs  
SENATOR JOHN CRANE  
SENATOR JOHN RUCKELSHAUS

SENATE MOTION

Madam President: I move that the following resolutions be adopted:

APPOINTMENTS TO LEADERSHIP  
BY MINORITY FLOOR LEADER

Minority Whip  
SENATOR LONNIE RANDOLPH  
Assistant Minority Caucus Chair  
SENATOR FRANK MRVAN

- SR 5 Senator Bray  
Authorizing the Postmaster of the Indiana Senate to receive from the Postmaster of the City of Indianapolis all mail belonging to the Senate.
- SR 7 Senator Mishler  
Honoring Senator Mike Delph upon his retirement from the Indiana State Senate.
- SR 6 Senator Bray  
Honoring Tracy Mann upon her retirement from the Indiana State Senate.
- SR 2 Senator Charbonneau  
Congratulating Covenant Christian H.S. on being awarded the National Athletic Trainers' Association Safe Sports School Award.
- SR 8 Senator Grooms  
Honoring Kye Hoehn.

OTHER APPOINTMENTS  
BY PRESIDENT PRO TEMPORE

Assistant Majority Secretary of the Senate  
CANDACE K. HALL  
Deputy Secretary of Operations  
ATLANTIS RICHTER  
Postmaster of the Senate  
BRETT JAMES  
Principal Doorkeeper of the Senate  
WILLIAM HART  
Chief Legal Counsel  
JENNIFER MERTZ  
Majority Attorney  
SHELLEY MYERS

BRAY

Motion prevailed.

RESOLUTIONS ON FIRST READING

Senate Resolution 5

Senate Resolution 5, introduced by Senator Bray:

A SENATE RESOLUTION authorizing the Postmaster of the Indiana Senate to receive from the Postmaster of the City of Indianapolis all mail belonging to the Senate.

*Whereas, The Postmaster of the Indiana Senate is hereby authorized to receive from the Postmaster of the City of Indianapolis all mail which may belong to the Indiana Senate and to the several members and employees thereof and which may be directed to the general delivery or care of the Senate: Therefore,*

*Be it resolved by the Senate of the General Assembly of the State of Indiana:*

SECTION 1. That the Secretary of the Senate be directed to send a certified copy of this Resolution to the Postmaster of the City of Indianapolis.

The resolution was read in full and adopted by voice vote.

Senate Resolution 7

Senate Resolution 7, introduced by Senators Mishler, Bray, Messmer, Altig, Crane, Crider, Freeman, Glick, Head, Merritt and Ruckelshaus:

A SENATE RESOLUTION honoring Senator Mike Delph upon his retirement from the Indiana State Senate.

OTHER APPOINTMENTS  
BY MINORITY FLOOR LEADER

Deputy Minority Secretary of the Senate  
ADAM JONES  
Minority Attorney of the Senate  
JORDAN SEEDER

Report adopted.

REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT  
PRO TEMPORE

Madam President: Pursuant to IC 2-2.2-3-2, the President Pro Tempore hereby appoints the following members of the Majority to serve on the Senate Ethics Committee:

Senators L. Brown, Charbonneau and Walker

Pursuant to IC 2-2.2-3-2, the President Pro Tempore hereby designates Senator L. Brown as Chair and Senator Breaux as Vice Chair of the Senate Ethics Committee.

Pursuant to IC 2-2.2-3-2, the Minority Leader hereby appoints the following members of the Minority to serve on the Senate Ethics Committee:

Senators Breaux, Mrvan and Lonnie M. Randolph

BRAY

Report adopted.

*Whereas, Senator Mike Delph has faithfully and honorably served the constituents of Senate District 29, encompassing parts of Boone, Hamilton, and Marion counties, since his election in 2005;*

*Whereas, Senator Delph served as the Chair of the Senate Committee on Veterans Affairs and the Military, the Chair of the Senate Select Commission on Immigration Issues, the Ranking Member of the Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Transportation, and has served on the Senate Committees on Commerce and Technology, Insurance, Financial Institutions, Judiciary, Tax and Fiscal Policy, and Utilities;*

*Whereas, During his tenure in the Senate, Senator Delph championed legislation for Hoosiers who have served in the Armed Forces including establishing the Military Family Relief Fund, increasing opportunities for state contracts with veteran owned small businesses, and extending a pilot program for medical relief for all Hoosier veterans suffering from PTSD;*

*Whereas, Throughout his tenure with the Indiana Senate, Senator Delph advocated for a variety of issues on behalf of his constituents encompassing education and local government reform, school flexibility, child protection, government transparency and accountability, and reasonable taxes for hardworking Hoosiers;*

*Whereas, Senator Delph has been recognized with numerous awards including the American Legion Distinguished Public Service Award in 2006 and 2013, the State and National Eagle Forum Eagle Award in 2010, the Common Cause Mr. Clean Award in 2010, the Indiana Family Institute Legislator of the Year Award in 2014, the Americans for Prosperity of Indiana Champion of Prosperity Award in 2014, and the Sagamore of the Wabash in 2005 and 2016;*

*Whereas, Upon his retirement from the Senate, Senator Delph will continue to practice as the General Counsel for CarDon & Associates, serve as an intelligence officer in the United States Army Reserves, and home school his two youngest daughters alongside his wife Beth;*

*Whereas, Senator Delph's military expertise, commitment to traditional American values, and unwavering determination to ensure government transparency and accountability will be greatly missed within the Indiana State Senate and throughout the Statehouse: Therefore,*

*Be it resolved by the Senate of the General Assembly of the State of Indiana:*

SECTION 1. That the Indiana State Senate honors Senator Mike Delph upon his retirement and thanks him for his years of service to the Indiana State Senate and Senate District 29.

SECTION 2. The Secretary of the Senate is hereby directed to transmit a copy of this Resolution to Senator Mike Delph and his family.

The resolution was read in full and adopted by voice vote.

### **Senate Resolution 6**

Senate Resolution 6, introduced by Senator Bray:

A SENATE RESOLUTION honoring Tracy Mann upon her retirement and thanking her for 28 years of exceptional service to the Indiana State Senate.

*Whereas, Tracy began her career with the Indiana State Senate as an intern during the 1991 legislative session, and continued to work each legislative session since in a variety of positions, most recently as Executive Assistant to the President Pro Tempore;*

*Whereas, Over her 28 legislative sessions, Tracy was a dedicated staff member of the Indiana State Senate, serving as Caucus Secretary, Intern Director, Legislative Assistant, Assistant to the Majority Fiscal Analyst, and Executive Assistant to the President Pro Tempore;*

*Whereas, While serving as a Legislative Assistant, Tracy's caseload included Senator Richard Bray, Senator Jean Leising, Senator Allen Paul, Senator Tom Weatherwax, Senator Harold Wheeler, and most recently, Senator David Long;*

*Whereas, Tracy acted as a mentor and confidant to legislators, staff members, constituents, and visitors in each position she held through her immense knowledge of the legislative process and her love of helping others whenever and wherever her skills were best utilized;*

*Whereas, Upon her retirement, Tracy plans to continue honing her craft as a master woodworker; and*

*Whereas, Tracy is a cherished and vital part of the Senate family who will be greatly missed by all: Therefore,*

*Be it resolved by the Senate of the General Assembly of the State of Indiana:*

SECTION 1. That the Indiana State Senate honors Tracy Mann on the occasion of her retirement, thanks her for her outstanding service, and wishes her all the best in the years to come.

SECTION 2. The Secretary of the Senate is hereby directed to transmit a copy of this Resolution to Tracy Mann.

The resolution was read in full and adopted by voice vote.

**Senate Resolution 2**

Senate Resolution 2, introduced by Senator Charbonneau:

A SENATE RESOLUTION congratulating Covenant Christian High School on being awarded the National Athletic Trainers' Association's Safe Sports School Award.

*Whereas, Covenant Christian High School is a rural school located in Demotte, Indiana;*

*Whereas, Covenant Christian High School was awarded the 2018 National Athletic Trainers' Association's Safe Sports School Award;*

*Whereas, The award requires specific sports safety actions, such as providing safe and appropriate environments for practices and games, supplying proper sporting equipment, developing injury intervention strategies, rehearsing an emergency action plan, and promoting a culture of safe play;*

*Whereas, Covenant Christian High School has demonstrated a high commitment to keeping its student athletes safe while competing;*

*Whereas, Covenant Christian High School's dedication to safe sports will result in safer, healthier student athletes at its school for years to come: Therefore,*

*Be it resolved by the Senate of the General Assembly of the State of Indiana:*

SECTION 1. That the Indiana Senate congratulates Covenant Christian High School on being awarded the National Athletic Trainers' Association's Safe Sports School Award.

SECTION 2. The Secretary of the Senate is hereby directed to transmit copies of this Resolution to Mr. Devon Brinks, Superintendent of DeMotte Christian Schools, and Dr. Mike Laneve, Principal of Covenant Christian High School.

The resolution was read in full and adopted by voice vote.

**Senate Resolution 8**

Senate Resolution 8, introduced by Senator Grooms:

A SENATE RESOLUTION honoring Kye Hoehn upon her retirement.

*Whereas, Kye Hoehn opened Kye's and Kye's II in 1993 and 1997, respectively, event venues located along the Ohio River in Jeffersonville, Indiana;*

*Whereas, Immediately popular upon their opening, Kye's and Kye's II have been premier venues for weddings, anniversary celebrations, reunions, business meetings, and other special events for more than 20 years;*

*Whereas, On December 15, 2018, Kye's and Kye's II will host its final event and close its doors for the last time;*

*Whereas, After years of hosting events for the Southern Indiana community, Kye Hoehn will be retiring and moving on to the next adventure in her life; and*

*Whereas, The impact Kye Hoehn, Kye's, and Kye's II has made on Clark County, Indiana, and the surrounding community is immeasurable: Therefore,*

*Be it resolved by the Senate of the General Assembly of the State of Indiana:*

SECTION 1. That the Indiana Senate honors Kye Hoehn upon her retirement and wishes her all the best in her future endeavors.

SECTION 2. The Secretary of the Senate is hereby directed to transmit a copy of this Resolution to Kye Hoehn.

The resolution was read in full and adopted by voice vote.

**Senate Resolution 3**

Senate Resolution 3, introduced by Senators Lanane, Breaux, Tallian, J.D. Ford, Melton, Mrvan, Niezgodski, Lonnie M. Randolph, Stoops and G. Taylor:

A SENATE RESOLUTION congratulating Emma Keys upon her retirement and thanking her for 32 years of exceptional service with the Indiana Senate.

*Whereas, Emma Keys began her career with the Indiana Senate as a full-time employee on Monday, December 1, 1986. Her first assignment included working with Senator Carolyn Mosby (Gary) and Senator William McCarty (Anderson);*

*Whereas, In 1988, Emma was promoted to Supervisor of Legislative Assistants, where she was responsible for hiring session employees and remained in that position until 1993;*

*Whereas, In 1992, Emma was promoted to Executive Assistant to the Minority Leader under Senate Minority Leader Robert Hellman. She has worked for the next three Minority Leaders; Senator Richard Young, Senator Vi Simpson, and Senator Tim Lanane;*

*Whereas, Emma became Deputy Minority Secretary of the Senate in 1993;*

*Whereas, Since becoming Assistant Secretary, Emma has remained in her leadership position for 25 years;*

*Whereas, Prior to her service with the Indiana Senate, Emma worked in the office of U.S. Senator Birch Bayh from 1973 - 1980;*

*Whereas, Emma also served on staff with the Democratic State Committee from 1981 - 1982 as well as in the Indiana Auditor of State Otis Cox's office from 1982 - 1986;*

*Whereas, Emma is an active member of Christ Temple Apostolic Faith Assembly where she delights in worshipping and praising God;*

*Whereas, Emma is a devoted mother and grandmother and enjoys spending time with her husband, Gerald, four children, Gerald, Jr., Adrienne, Amy, and Erik, and 23 grandchildren;*

*Whereas, Emma also enjoys baking, gardening, and occasionally traveling;*

*Whereas, Emma carries with her endless knowledge and history from her time with the Indiana Senate and she is an institution in the Democratic Caucus;*

*Whereas, Emma's friendly smile and love for her fellow human is evident in her faith, work, and day-to-day life;*

*Whereas, The confidence with which staff and legislators alike feel that they can share information with Emma is unrivaled and demonstrates why she is so valued by everyone that has been part of Indiana politics over the last 45 years; and*

*Whereas, Emma will be missed immensely by the Democratic Caucus and all those she has touched throughout the years: Therefore,*

*Be it resolved by the Senate of the General Assembly of the State of Indiana:*

SECTION 1. That the Indiana Senate congratulates Emma Keys upon her retirement from the Indiana Senate, thanks her for 45 years of exceptional service to the State of Indiana, and wishes her well on all of her future endeavors.

SECTION 2. That the Secretary of the Senate is hereby directed to transmit a copy of this resolution to Emma Keys.

The resolution was read in full and adopted by voice vote.

#### **Senate Resolution 4**

Senate Resolution 4, introduced by Senators L. Brown, Spartz and Holdman:

A SENATE RESOLUTION honoring Maureen Weingardt upon her retirement and thanking her for her years of exceptional service to the Indiana State Senate.

*Whereas, Maureen began her career with the Indiana State Senate as a session employee during the 1993, 1995, and 1997 legislative sessions, and became a full-time legislative assistant in 1997, serving the Senate until her retirement in 2018;*

*Whereas, Over her 24 legislative sessions, Maureen was a dedicated staff member serving in a variety of positions, including Proofreader, Telephone Center Clerk, Receptionist, Legislative Assistant, and Floor Supervisor;*

*Whereas, Serving five Majority Caucus members throughout her time, Maureen's caseload has included Senator David Ford, Senator Travis Holdman, Senator Tom Wyss, and most recently, Senator Liz Brown and Senator Victoria Spartz;*

*Whereas, Maureen is married to her husband, Bruce, has a daughter, Savanna Heise, a son-in-law, Eric Heise, and one grandson, Joey Jones; and*

*Whereas, Maureen is a cherished and vital part of the Senate family who will be greatly missed by all: Therefore,*

*Be it resolved by the Senate of the General Assembly of the State of Indiana:*

SECTION 1. That the Indiana Senate honors Maureen Weingardt on the occasion of her retirement, thanks her for her outstanding service, and wishes her all the best for years to come.

SECTION 2. The Secretary of the Senate is hereby directed to transmit a copy of this Resolution to Maureen Weingardt and her family.

The resolution was read in full and adopted by voice vote.

#### **House Concurrent Resolution 1**

House Concurrent Resolution 1, sponsored by Senators Bray and Lanane:

A CONCURRENT RESOLUTION to allow the House of Representatives and the Senate of the 121st General Assembly to adjourn and recess separately throughout the First Regular Session for periods in excess of three (3) consecutive days as the need, in the judgment of the Speaker of the House of Representatives and the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, respectively, may arise.

*Whereas, The Indiana House of Representatives and the Senate met for the purpose of organization of each House to conduct the public business of the people of the State of Indiana;*

*Whereas, The House of Representatives and the Senate operate on their own respective schedules, having been separated from each other under IC 2-2.1-1-2;*

*Whereas, During the consideration of legislative business, each House may, in the respective judgment of the Speaker of the House of Representatives and the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, deem it necessary to adjourn and recess for periods in excess of three (3) consecutive days and to operate on a schedule different from the other House;*

*Whereas, Article 4, Section 10 of the Constitution of the State of Indiana states that neither House shall, without the consent of the other, adjourn for more than three (3) consecutive days;*

*Whereas, Each House desires to consent to any adjournment or recess by the other House that might last more than three (3) days during the First Regular Session of the 121st Indiana General Assembly; and*

*Whereas, The House of Representatives and the Senate intend to recess after November 20, 2018, and meet again on January 3, 2019, to conduct legislative business: Therefore,*

*Be it resolved by the House of Representatives of the General Assembly of the State of Indiana, the Senate concurring:*

SECTION 1. That each House of the 121st Indiana General Assembly hereby consents to any adjournment or recess of the other House during the First Regular Session of the 121st Indiana General Assembly for a period in excess of three (3) days, where such recess or adjournment is approved, in the case of the Senate, by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, or, in the case of the House of Representatives, by the Speaker of the House of Representatives.

SECTION 2. That the Principal Clerk of the House of Representatives is directed to inform the Senate of the passage of the Resolution.

The resolution was read in full and placed upon its passage. The question was, Shall the resolution pass? Roll Call 2: yeas 46, nays 1. The resolution was declared passed. The Chair instructed the Secretary to inform the House of the passage of the resolution.

#### MESSAGE FROM THE HOUSE

Madam President: I am directed by the House to inform the Senate that the House has adopted the following motion:

“I move that a committee of four members of this House be appointed by the Speaker to act with a like committee of the Senate to wait upon the Governor and to notify him of the organization of both Houses of the General Assembly and to inform him that they are ready for the transaction of legislative business.”

The Speaker has appointed Representatives Hostettler, Baird, Jackson and Beck.

M. CAROLINE SPOTTS  
Principal Clerk of the House

#### MESSAGE FROM THE HOUSE

Madam President: I am directed by the House to inform the Senate that the House has adopted the following motion:

“I move that a committee of four members of this House be appointed by the Speaker to notify the Senate that the House of Representatives has met, has formed, a quorum, and is now prepared to proceed with legislative business and to receive any communications which the Senate may transmit.”

The Speaker has appointed Representatives Manning, Goodrich, Boy and Chyung.

M. CAROLINE SPOTTS  
Principal Clerk of the House

#### MESSAGE FROM THE HOUSE

Madam President: I am directed by the House to inform the Senate that the House has passed House Concurrent Resolution 1 and the same is herewith transmitted for further action.

M. CAROLINE SPOTTS  
Principal Clerk of the House

#### MESSAGE FROM THE HOUSE

Madam President: I am directed by the House to inform the Senate that the House has adopted the Joint Rules of the Senate and House of Representatives as shown in Exhibit A which is attached hereto.

M. CAROLINE SPOTTS  
Principal Clerk of the House

#### SENATE MOTION

Madam President: I move that Senators Alting, Bassler, Becker, Bohacek, Boots, Bray, L. Brown, Buchanan, Buck, Busch, Charbonneau, Crane, Crider, Doriot, Jon Ford, Freeman, Garten, Gaskill, Glick, Grooms, Head, Holdman, Houchin, Koch, Kruse, Leising, Merritt, Messmer, Mishler, Niemeyer, Perfect, Raatz, Rogers, Ruckelshaus, Sandlin, Spartz, Tomes, Walker, M. Young and Zay be added as coauthors of Senate Resolution 3.

LANANE

Motion prevailed.

#### SENATE MOTION

Madam President: I move that Senators Alting, Bassler, Becker, Bohacek, Boots, Bray, Breaux, Buchanan, Buck, Busch, Charbonneau, Crane, Crider, Doriot, J.D. Ford, Jon Ford, Freeman, Garten, Gaskill, Glick, Grooms, Head, Houchin, Koch, Kruse, Lanane, Leising, Melton, Merritt, Messmer, Mishler, Mrvan, Niemeyer, Niezgodski, Perfect, Raatz, Lonnie M. Randolph, Rogers, Ruckelshaus, Sandlin, Stoops, Tallian, G. Taylor, Tomes, Walker, M. Young and Zay be added as coauthors of Senate Resolution 4.

L. BROWN

Motion prevailed.

SENATE MOTION

Madam President: I move that Senators Alting, Bassler, Becker, Bohacek, Boots, Breaux, L. Brown, Buchanan, Buck, Busch, Charbonneau, Crane, Crider, Doriot, J.D. Ford, Jon Ford, Freeman, Garten, Gaskill, Glick, Grooms, Head, Holdman, Houchin, Koch, Kruse, Lanane, Leising, Melton, Merritt, Messmer, Mishler, Mrvan, Niemeyer, Niezgodski, Perfect, Raatz, Lonnie M. Randolph, Rogers, Ruckelshaus, Sandlin, Spartz, Stoops, Tallian, G. Taylor, Tomes, Walker, M. Young and Zay be added as coauthors of Senate Resolution 6.

BRAY

Motion prevailed.

SENATE MOTION

Madam President: I move that Senator M. Young be added as coauthor of Senate Resolution 7.

MISHLER

Motion prevailed.

SENATE MOTION

Madam President: I move we adjourn until 1:30 p.m., Thursday, January 3, 2019.

BRAY

Motion prevailed.

The Senate adjourned at 2:22 p.m.

JENNIFER L. MERTZ  
Secretary of the Senate

SUZANNE CROUCH  
President of the Senate